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evolving opportunities



OUR INDUSTRY IS IN MOTION. AGAIN.
From the technologies to the products to the competition, specialty
entertainment retail is changing and growing in new and exciting
ways, while facing new challenges.

Even in what was a 
disappointing year for our 
industry, there were successes 
to be found – opportunities
to be seized.
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT 
IS IN MOTION. AGAIN.
We continue to enhance the customer shopping 
experience and product mix, to refine and grow our 
unmatched store portfolio, and to strategically leverage 
our position as an industry leader.

With a difficult 2005 behind us, 
we remain focused on the future. 
Financially stable and strategically 
positioned. Ready to take advantage 
of evolving opportunities.



Letter from the Chairman/CEO

Once again, due to our financial strength and industry expertise, 
we have been able to weather industry downturns and disappointments,
remaining both opportunistic and optimistic.

Across several business segments,
2005 was a disappointing year for 
Trans World Entertainment.

Sales for the year, including the 
critical fourth quarter, were affected 
by a general weakness in our industry.
For a variety of reasons, reflecting in 
particular the sluggish performance of
music sales, we fell short of our sales
and profit goals.

In the midst of this disappointment,
however, we identified and capitalized
on opportunities – including our recent
acquisition of the assets of Musicland
Holding Corp., our largest specialty
entertainment competitor, in the first
quarter of 2006.

Due to our financial strength and 
industry expertise, we have once 
again been able to weather industry
downturns and disappointments,
remaining both opportunistic 
and optimistic.

Our strategic plan – to be a total 
entertainment retailer, to provide 
a unique shopping environment, to 
better connect with our customers, 
to leverage our in-store technology 
to grow online and digital product
sales, to be an industry consolidator
seeking prudent acquisitions – 
remains sound.

As a leader in our industry, we will 
continue to seek – and create – 
new and evolving opportunities. 

2005 FINANCIALS

This was a challenging year for 
specialty entertainment as a whole –
and for Trans World.

Our 2005 comparable store sales 
were down 6% from 2004, while 
our total store sales decreased 9% 
to $1.24 billion. Due to a holiday 
selling season that was challenging,
our fourth quarter results were 
disappointing, as comparable store
sales decreased 8% versus the 
fourth quarter of 2004.

Though lower than our estimates, 
we achieved growth in DVD and video
games. A particular bright spot was 
our sales growth in electronics, 
accessories and boutique businesses –
which saw impressive results with 
the introduction of new products and
enhanced merchandising initiatives.

The music industry as a whole was
plagued by weak new releases and 
the continued challenge of digital
downloads. This was reflected in 
our music sales which were down 
for the year.

In spite of these challenges, our 
balance sheet remains solid. In
December, we completed our 
10 million share buyback – reflecting
our confidence in the Company, and
using our strong financial condition 
to deliver additional value to our 
shareholders.

INDUSTRY GROWTH 
AND CHALLENGES

The growth of sell-through DVD continued
in 2005, as industry sales rose 4.5%
and totaled $15.7 billion. While this
growth is slowing compared to the
explosive expansion of previous 
years, with a stronger new release

schedule and the anticipated migration
to new formats compatible with 
high definition television, we expect 
to capture our share of this 
continued momentum.

The video game industry also 
continued to grow in 2005, with sales
rising 6% for the year. Microsoft’s®

Xbox 360TM performed well, but 
a lack of sufficient product negatively
affected holiday sales for the category.
As we look to 2006, we expect 
continued growth in video games as
new hardware formats are introduced,
including PlayStation® 3 in November
of 2006 and we have already seen
improved supply of product for the
Xbox 360TM.

After achieving solid improvement 
in 2004, the music industry 
disappointed in 2005, as CD sales
decreased 8%. This softness in music
and growth in other entertainment 
categories ultimately validates our
strategic plan – to diversify our product
mix as a total entertainment retailer,
reducing our reliance on the success 
of the newest music releases.

COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

As our industry faces further 
consolidation, there are several 
key strengths which distinguish 
Trans World from our competitors.

We are the only specialty retailer that
is dedicated to, and delivers on the
promise of “all things entertainment”
with the only national mall-based chain,
selling music, movies and games in
one store.  We have captured our share
of the exciting growth of DVDs and
video games. We have leveraged our
deep music catalog to distinguish 
ourselves from the competition. We
have created success with sales of 



electronics/boutique/specialty items
including MP3 players and cell phones.
We have defined, and continue to 
reinvent, specialty entertainment.

We offer an unequaled customer 
experience. Through our industry-
leading LVS (listening-viewing stations)
units (enabling customers to instantly
preview nearly every title in the store,
with future enhancements allowing
customers to download music and
videos directly onto digital players), and
our knowledgeable sales associates,
we provide a level of customer service
and an environment of “entertainment
discovery”unlike any of our competitors.
In 2005, we rolled out Backstage Pass,
a national customer loyalty program
designed to build stronger connections
with each consumer – offering discounts,
exclusives and other reasons to 
choose our stores; and combined with
Musicland’s loyalty program, we have
access to over 1 million members.

We are leveraging our best-in-breed 
in-store technology. Furthering our
advantage in this area, Trans World
acquired a majority interest in Mix &
Burn, LLC, the leading provider of 
in-store digital content and delivery
to retailers nationwide, in early 2006.
Mix & Burn will soon expand its offerings
to include downloads onto a digital 
media player and cell phone, offering
new sales opportunities.

We have an unmatched store portfolio –
now made even stronger with the 
addition of the Sam Goody chain and
173 Suncoast stores – which are 
dedicated to movie sales. We will 
apply our industry expertise to pick
and choose the top-performing 
stores in the Musicland portfolio, 
and convert them into efficient, 
profitable Trans World stores.

We have a proven history of identifying
highly strategic acquisitions – from
Strawberries, Camelot and Spec’s to
Disc Jockey and Wherehouse – this 
is what we do, and our most recent
acquisition will be our best. We have
the real estate savvy and financial
resources to capitalize on opportunities
that contribute to our business goals. 

Our new 5-year, $130 million revolving
credit facility agreement gives us the
ability to access funding at reduced
rates and positive terms.

At all levels of the Company, we 
continue to emphasize efficiency, 
quality and performance. In 2005, 
we welcomed back Jim Litwak as
President and Chief Operating 
Officer to oversee all merchandising,
marketing and store operations for
Trans World. Jim had previously 
served as Executive Vice President,
Merchandising and Marketing, 

of Trans World from 1996 to 2000, 
and he joins our seasoned executive
team including Bruce Eisenberg 
and John Sullivan, as well as 
top talent across our Company.

GOALS: LEVERAGING STRENGTHS,
LOOKING FOR OPPORTUNITIES

Our goals for 2006 are focused on
leveraging our strengths, and seeking
new opportunities.

We will continue to redefine our 
product offering around critical growth
categories, maintaining our emphasis
on DVD and video games, and 
expanding our electronics, boutique
and accessory specialty offerings.

We will promote and leverage the 
next generation of our exclusive 
LVS system, and provide best-in-class 
customer service. We will emphasize
our innovative in-store services, 
delivering all things entertainment, 
at the convenience of our customers.

Through a wide range of marketing,
we will continue to strengthen our 
f.y.e. brand – advancing our position 
as the preferred retail entertainment
destination throughout the 
United States.

We will continue to assess and refine
our national store network, and seek 
prudent additions that enhance 
our revenue and market share. 

Across everything we do, we will 
continue to create, sustain and grow
value, on behalf of our shareholders.

THE EVOLUTION CONTINUES

It bears reminding: we have been
doing this since 1972. We are no
stranger to change, we have faced
three decades of evolution in 
specialty entertainment, and we
have methodically, strategically, 
prudently built this Company into 
an industry leader.

Though we face challenges, our strategic
plan is working. In an industry where 
consumers are constantly looking 
for increased access to all things 
entertainment, we are delivering. 
At a time when consolidation is the
trend, we have been the consolidator.
We are financially sound, and excited
about the future.

I would like to thank our shareholders,
board of directors, my executive 
team and our over 10,000 associates 
nationwide for their support and 
dedication. Together, this team will
work to find, create and capitalize 
on new opportunities.

In an industry where consumers expect – 
and demand – increased access to all things 
entertainment, we are delivering. At a time 
when consolidation is the trend, we have been
the consolidator. We are financially sound, 
and excited for the future.
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OPPORTUNITY:

CONSOLIDATION
The continuing trend toward industry consolidation offers opportunities for Trans World – 
to reach new customers, to increase market share and revenue, to grow our already
unmatched store portfolio, and to maximize our leverage as an industry leader.

We have a proven history of
making strategic acquisitions
which immediately contribute to
our business goals, and we will
seek new opportunities in 2006
and beyond. In the first quarter
of 2006, we acquired the assets
of Musicland Holding Corp. – our
largest specialty entertainment

retail competitor, with store 
locations and formats that align
with and complement our own.
With our fundamental financial
strength, we are in position to
continue this momentum.

Our acquisition of Wherehouse
Entertainment was 

profitable in its first
year of operation.
We know how to identify 
and seize strategic acquisitions.

We now have stores in all
50 states, Puerto Rico 
and the U.S. Virgin Islands



OPPORTUNITY: 

CUSTOMER FOCUS
Our unique, customer-driven shopping experience 
gives us another advantage – and opportunity.

Online and in-store, interactive
and integrated, everything we 
do is built around the needs and
preferences of our customers.
Unlike our big box and consumer
electronics competitors, we
provide a deep selection of 
catalog titles. 

We offer a revolutionary in-store
product sampling system, the
LVS, driving entertainment 
discovery and incremental sales.

We recently launched Backstage
Pass, a customer loyalty program
aimed at building greater share-
of-wallet per customer. 

In addition, our team of sales
associates is truly best-in-class,
because they are passionate
about and focused on all 
things entertainment.

We continue to refine the LVS,
our in-store sampling system –
increasing its functionality 
to give our stores a true 
competitive advantage.

We are currently testing the 
f.y.e. Download Zone,a store-
within-a-store concept, 
where consumers can instantly

burn custom CDs
from a vast digital music library
(offering downloads for digital 
media players and cell phones 
in the future).
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OPPORTUNITY:

TOTAL ENTERTAINMENT
More than any of our competitors, we are a total 
entertainment retailer – providing another key point 
of differentiation.

We offer the depth and breadth
of entertainment products that
customers are looking for in one
store: CDs, DVDs, video games, 
electronics including MP3 
players, magazines, specialty/
boutique items and more. This
means two things: customers
can find everything entertainment
in one convenient location and
we are by no means entirely
reliant on the success of any 

one entertainment category or
the performance of the latest top
sellers. Wherever the growth is,
whether it is sales of newest
video game formats or home
entertainment platforms, we 
will capture our share.

In 2005, music sales
accounted for slightly
more than 50% of our
total sales – down from
over 75% in 2000. This
reflects our continuing 
emphasis on
product 
diversification,
and demonstrates our
growth in all things
entertainment.



OPPORTUNITY:

EVOLUTION AND GROWTH
The ever broadening category of “entertainment” offers 
tremendous opportunity for our industry, and for Trans World.

From advances in home theater
to a variety of new ways to enjoy
music, movies and games on the
go, consumers are investing
more than ever in entertainment
technologies and products.

The nearly $16 billion DVD industry
continues to grow – offering
exciting new potential as high
definition (HD) format DVDs are
rolled out in 2006 and 2007.

The more than $10 billion video
game industry likewise continues
to grow, as game formats, titles
and genres expand, appealing to
a broader range of ages.

Even though the music industry
has seen its challenges of late,
the ease and convenience of 
digital music is enlivening and
reawakening interest in all music
categories. At only 99 cents a
song or via subscriptions (as
offered at www.fye.com), 
more and more consumers are
exploring the vast music universe.

All of this growth and change,
awareness and excitement,
bodes well for Trans World
Entertainment. We have the 
infrastructure in place to meet
the current and future needs of
our customers... to seize these
evolving opportunities.

$15.7 billion
DVD Industry

Sales 2005

$12.3 billion
Music Industry

Sales 2005

$664 million
Trans World
Music Sales 2005

$10.5 billion
Games Industry

Sales 2005

$90 million
Trans World
Games Sales 2005
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$1,238,486

(9.3)%

(5.7)%

$609

$0.02

$800,323

$378,512

782

$1,365,133

2.6%

0.8%

$41,841

$1.15

$859,563

$404,323

810

$1,330,626

3.8%

1.3%

$23,067

$0.60

$817,758

$399,184

881

$1,281,869

(7.6)%

(5.0)%

$(45,470)

$(1.13)

$803,396

$392,104

855

$1,388,032

(1.9)%

(2.7)%

$16,791

$0.39

$935,418

$448,066

902

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Sales

Change in total sales

Change in comparable
store sales

Net income (loss)

Diluted earnings (loss)
per share

Total assets

Shareholders’ equity

Total stores

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(in thousands, except per share and store data)
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries

The following table sets forth selected income statement and balance sheet data for the five fiscal years ended January 28, 2006 from the
Company’s audited consolidated financial statements. Each fiscal year of the Company consisted of 52 weeks. The information should be read 
in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial information included herein,
including Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.

Fiscal Year Ended
January 28, January 29, January 31, February 1, February 2,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

($ in thousands, except per share and store data)

INCOME STATEMENT DATA:
Sales $1,238,486 $1,365,133 $1,330,626 $1,281,869 $1,388,032
Cost of sales 806,873 869,999 842,726 815,071 935,256

Gross profit 431,613 495,134 487,900 466,798 452,776
Selling, general and administrative expenses 426,854 450,162 459,441 465,893 422,737
Goodwill impairment charge(1) — — — 40,914 —

Income (loss) from operations 4,759 44,972 28,459 (40,009) 30,039
Interest expense 2,954 2,444 2,147 2,349 2,477
Other income (2,171) (1,039) (718) (1,231) (2,120)

Income (loss) before income taxes, extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of 
a change in accounting principle 3,976 43,567 27,030 (41,127) 29,682

Income tax expense (benefit) 1,090 4,892 8,302 (9,341) 12,891

Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill and cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle 2,886 38,675 18,728 (31,786) 16,791

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, 
net of income taxes(2) — 3,166 4,339 — —

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,
net of income taxes(3)(4) (2,277) — — (13,684) —

Net income (loss) $ 609 $ 41,841 $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 16,791

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain – 

unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of 
change in accounting principle $ 0.09 $ 1.12 $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.40

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill — 0.09 0.12 — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (0.07) — — (0.34) —

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.02 $ 1.21 $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic 31,962 34,531 37,422 40,224 41,938

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain – 

unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of 
change in accounting principle $ 0.09 $ 1.06 $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.39

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill — 0.09 0.11 — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (0.07) — — (0.34) —

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.02 $ 1.15 $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – diluted 32,124 36,297 38,209 40,224 42,553
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Fiscal Year Ended
January 28, January 29, January 31, February 1, February 2,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

($ in thousands, except per share and store data)

Pro forma amounts assuming new accounting principle 
was applied retroactively:

Income before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative 
goodwill and cumulative effect of a change in 
accounting principle, as reported $ 2,886 $ 38,675 $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $ 16,791

Pro forma income before extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect 
of a change in accounting principle 2,922 38,946 18,533 (32,115) 17,283

Pro forma net income 2,922 42,112 22,872 (45,799) 17,283

Per share amounts:
Basic earnings per share before extraordinary gain – 

unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect 
of a change in accounting principle, as reported $ 0.09 $ 1.12 $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.40

Pro forma basic earnings per share before extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of 
a change in accounting principle $ 0.09 $ 1.13 $ 0.50 $ (0.80) $ 0.41

Pro forma basic earnings per share $ 0.09 $ 1.22 $ 0.61 $ (1.14) $ 0.41

Diluted earnings per share before extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect 
of a change in accounting principle, as reported $ 0.09 $ 1.06 $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.39

Pro forma diluted earnings per share before extraordinary 
gain – unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect 
of a change in accounting principle $ 0.09 $ 1.07 $ 0.49 $ (0.80) $ 0.40

Pro forma diluted earnings per share $ 0.09 $ 1.16 $ 0.60 $ (1.14) $ 0.40

BALANCE SHEET DATA: (at the end of the period)
Total assets $800,323 $ 859,653 $ 817,758 $803,396 $ 935,418
Current portion of debt and capital lease obligations 3,659 780 395 1,640 4,711
Long-term obligations 19,474 12,037 7,465 7,860 9,500
Shareholders’ equity $ 378,512 $404,323 $399,184 $392,104 $448,066

OPERATING DATA:
Store count (open at end of period):

Mall stores 546 560 595 650 686
Freestanding stores 236 250 286 205 216
Total stores 782 810 881 855 902

Comparable store sales increase/(decrease)(5) (5.7%) 0.8% 1.3% (5.0%) (2.7%)

Total square footage (in thousands) 4,824 5,002 5,484 4,944 5,076

1. The Company recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge in fiscal 2002 related to SFAS No.142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” concerning the accounting for goodwill.

2. The Company’s acquisition of the net assets of Wherehouse Entertainment Inc. and CD World Inc. stores in fiscal 2003 resulted in extraordinary gains recorded in 2003 and 2004 in accordance with 
SFAS No.141, “Business Combinations.” The gain represents the excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the purchase price of the acquired assets. For additional discussion regarding the 
extraordinary gain, refer to Note 3 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

3. The Company adopted guidance relating to the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB’s”) Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Statement No.02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a 
Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor,” effective as of the beginning of 2002, resulting in a one-time, non-cash, after-tax charge of $13.7 million, which was classified as a “cumulative 
effect of a change in accounting principle” in 2002.

4. The Company adopted FASB Interpretation No.(“FIN”)47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations – an Interpretation of FASB Statement No.143,” effective January 28, 2006 resulting 
in a one-time, non-cash, after tax charge of $2.3 million, which was classified as a “cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle” in 2005. For additional discussion regarding the cumulative effect 
of the change in accounting principle, refer to Note 2 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

5. A store is included in comparable store sales calculations at the beginning of its thirteenth full month of operation. Mall stores relocated in the same shopping center after being open for at least thirteen
months are considered comparable stores. Closed stores that were open for at least thirteen months are included in comparable store sales through the month immediately preceding the month of closing.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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OVERVIEW
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations provides information that the Company’s
management believes necessary to achieve an understanding of
its financial condition and results of operations. To the extent that
such analysis contains statements which are not of a historical
nature, such statements are forward-looking statements, which
involve risks and uncertainties. These risks include, but are not
limited to, changes in the competitive environment for the
Company’s merchandise, including the entry or exit of non-traditional
retailers of the Company’s merchandise to or from its markets;
releases by the music, DVD and video games industries of an
increased or decreased number of “hit releases”; general economic
factors in markets where the Company’s merchandise is sold; and
other factors discussed in the Company’s filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. The following discussion and analysis of
the Company’s financial condition and results of operations should
be read in conjunction with “Selected Consolidated Financial Data”
and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this report.

Subsequent to the fiscal year ended January 28, 2006 and effective
March 27, 2006, the Company acquired the net assets of Musicland
Holding Corp. (“Musicland”). Musicland, an entertainment specialty
retailer which operates retail stores and Web sites under the names
Sam Goody (www.samgoody.com), Suncoast Motion Picture
Company (www.suncoast.com), On Cue and www.mediaplay.com,
filed a voluntary petition to restructure under Chapter 11 of the
United States Bankruptcy Code in January 2006. See Note 13 of
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for further detail.

On March 16, 2006, the Company acquired an 80% interest in a
company that will be fully consolidated for financial reporting purposes.
The Company has committed a total funding of $5.2 million over 
two years, of which $1.2 million was funded as of March 25, 2006.

At January 28, 2006, the Company operated 782 stores totaling
approximately 4.8 million square feet in 46 states, the District of
Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin
Islands. In the fiscal year ended January 28, 2006 (referred to herein
as “2005”), the Company’s sales decreased as compared to the
fiscal year ended January 29, 2005, (referred to herein as “2004”) 
as a result of lower comparable sales and from operating fewer
stores during the year. Earnings decreased in 2005 as a result of
lower sales and gross margins, offset by lower selling, general 
and administrative expenses.

The Company focuses on the following areas in its effort to improve
its business:

Developing its Brands – f.y.e. Brand
The Company strives to increase consumer awareness of its various
branded stores and Internet sites. Particular attention is paid to its
national mall-based brand f.y.e (“For Your Entertainment”), since its
launch in 2001. The f.y.e brand initiative is aimed at broadening the
Company’s customer base by creating a more relevant entertainment
shopping experience and differentiating f.y.e from its competition. 

It is centered on an engaging and personalized approach in marketing
and merchandising, an interactive in-store and online entertainment
experience and a best-in-retail-class customer service level – all
designed to draw customers into stores and enhance long-term
customer loyalty. During 2005, the Company also introduced its
customer loyalty program, f.y.e. Backstage Pass, which is designed
to build stronger connections with each customer.

Improving Merchandise Assortment
The Company edits the product mix of its stores toward regional
tastes in order to increase the productivity of its stores, seeking 
to serve key customer segments within each store. This involves
tailoring the overall CD inventory and square footage allocation 
in line with a store’s trend, and increasing inventory and square
footage allocations for other, growing categories. The Company 
is also evaluating introduction of new products to complement its
core categories of CD, DVD and video games. In particular, the
Company is seeing growth and positive results with the introduction
of new products including portable DVD players, mobile phones,
MP3 players and accessories in the electronics, accessories and
boutique categories, and will continue to refine that mix. In 2005, 
an area of success was the 20% growth over 2004 in the Company’s
used product business and this growth is expected to continue in
2006 as the Company expands into the underdeveloped DVD
business as well as increase promotions and in-store merchandising.

The Company is embracing new digital media sales in its stores and
on its e-commerce sites and regards digital downloading as a means
to grow sales. With the introduction of its third generation Listening
and Viewing Stations (“LVS 3”) in all stores in 2006, the Company
will pursue growth in this category. LVS 3 will support the digital
download of music and videos in the future.

Growing Store Count
The Company has historically grown its sales by opening new stores
and by acquiring specialty retailers in its business. The Company
continues to assess and evaluate the expansion of its national 
store network, seeking prudent additions, as competitors abandon
locations and where economics are compelling. Management
believes there are opportunities to expand into new markets, 
fill-in existing markets and reposition stores in its current portfolio,
particularly with its freestanding formats.

In October 2003, the Company acquired substantially all of the 
net assets of 111 stores from Wherehouse Entertainment Inc.
(“Wherehouse”), a specialty music retailer located primarily in the
Western United States, for $35.2 million in cash. The acquired stores
have been an excellent fit both strategically and operationally with
the Company’s freestanding stores and provided an intelligent
opportunity to expand its West Coast presence. The Company 
also acquired, in October 2003, substantially all of the net assets 
of 13 specialty stores of CD World Inc. (“CD World”), located in 
New Jersey and Missouri, for $1.9 million in cash. See Note 3 of
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for further information.

Historically, about 10% of the Company’s stores are being evaluated
at any time for closure. The composition of these stores changes

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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from time to time as the result of competitive changes and other
factors. The Company aggressively closes stores when minimum
operating thresholds are not achieved. In recent years, the Company
has experienced a net store decline, as closings have outnumbered
openings and acquisitions.

During 2005, the Company closed 47 stores, opened 19 stores 
and repositioned 16 stores. Management believes it will close
approximately 35 stores in 2006 and open about 50 new stores. 
The Company anticipates that its store growth will continue in the
future. Subsequent to the fiscal year ended January 28, 2006 and
effective March 27, 2006, the Company acquired the net assets of
335 stores from Musicland Holding Corp. (“Musicland”), Musicland,
an entertainment specialty retailer operates retail stores and 
Web sites under the names Sam Goody (www.samgoody.com),
Suncoast Motion Picture Company (www.suncoast.com), On Cue 
and www.mediaplay.com. The acquisition of the Musicland stores
provides the Company with the ability to leverage their store
locations, and strategically increase its national presence and 
provide future growth opportunities. See Note 13 of Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for detail.

Key Performance Indicators
Management monitors a number of key performance indicators to
evaluate its performance, including:

Sales: The Company measures the rate of comparable store sales
change. A store is included in comparable store sales calculations 
at the beginning of its thirteenth full month of operation. Mall stores
relocated in the same shopping center after being open for at least
thirteen months are considered comparable stores. Closed stores
that were open for at least thirteen months are included in
comparable store sales through the month immediately preceding
the month of closing. The Company further analyzes sales by store
format (i.e., mall versus freestanding) and by product category.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit: Gross profit is a function of the cost 
of product in relation to its retail selling value. Changes in gross
profit are impacted primarily by sales levels, mix of products sold,
vendor discounts and allowances and distribution costs. The
Company records its distribution and product shrink expenses in 
cost of sales. Distribution expenses include those costs associated
with purchasing, receiving, inspecting and warehousing merchandise
and costs associated with product returns to vendors. Cost of sales
also includes obsolescence costs and is reduced by the benefit of
vendor allowances.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses: Included in
SG&A expenses are payroll and related costs, occupancy charges,
professional and service fees, general operating and overhead
expenses and depreciation charges (excluding those related to
distribution operations, as discussed in Note 4 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K). SG&A expenses also include asset impairment charges
and write-offs, if any, and miscellaneous items, other than interest.

Balance Sheet and Ratios: The Company views cash, net inventory
investment (inventory less accounts payable) and working capital
(current assets less current liabilities) as indicators of its financial
position. See Liquidity and Capital Resources for further discussion
of these items.

Fiscal Year Ended January 28, 2006 (“2005”)
Compared to Fiscal Year Ended January 29, 2005 (“2004”)

Sales. The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of
the Company’s total sales:

2005 vs. 2004

(in thousands) 2005 2004 $ %

Sales $1,238,486 $1,365,133 $(126,647) (9.3%)

Sales decreased in 2005 due to a decrease in the store count from
810 at the end of 2004, to 782 at the end of 2005. The decrease in
sales was also the result of a comparable store sales decrease 
of 5.7%. In 2005, comparable store sales decreased 5.4% for 
mall-based stores and decreased 6.3% for freestanding stores. 
A store is included in comparable store sales calculations at the
beginning of its thirteenth full month of operation. Not including
comparable store sales, sales from new and acquired stores, sales
from stores closed during the year and Internet sales, for 2005 and
2004 were $37.6 million and $145.8 million, respectively. Product
units sold in 2005 decreased 9.0% over 2004, and average retail 
for units sold decreased 0.5%.

Sales by merchandise category for 2005 and 2004 and comparable
store sales by category for 2005 were as follows:

Total 
Comparable

2005 2004 Store Sales

($ in thousands)

Music:
Compact discs $ 655,806 $ 736,149 (8.5%)
Audio cassettes and singles 7,906 14,463 (42.5)

Total Music 663,712 750,612 (9.2)

Video:
DVD 352,184 360,262 0.7
VHS 19,781 37,781 (45.5)

Total Video 371,965 398,043 (3.7)

Video games 90,408 89,297 2.3
Other 112,401 127,181 4.4

Total $1,238,486 $1,365,133 (5.7%)

The “Other” category includes electronics, accessories, boutique
and other sales, none of which individually exceeds 5%.

Music
The Company’s stores offer a wide range of new and used CDs
across most music genres, including new releases from current
artists as well as an extensive catalog of music from past periods
and artists. The music category represented 53.6% of the
Company’s sales in 2005.
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The Company’s annual CD unit sales decreased 12.4% in 2005. This
decrease is due to a lower store count, weak industry new releases
and increased digital downloading. According to SoundScan, total 
CD unit sales in the United States declined 7.2%.

The Company is working to introduce digital distribution channels 
in its stores and through its e-commerce sites. The Company has
rolled-out the third generation of LVS, or LVS 3, in over 185 mall
stores at the end of 2005 and expects to install it in all stores 
in 2006. This next generation of technology for the customers
enhances overall in-store and online experience through new 
product information displays and full catalog search capabilities. 
It is also positioned to deliver in-store digital downloading in the
future. Management believes that music will be the category 
with the highest sales for the foreseeable future.

Video
The Company offers DVDs in all its stores. Total sales for 2005 in 
the video category decreased 6.6%. Total sales in the DVD category
decreased 2.2% in 2005 due to a lower store count, partially offset
by a comparable store sales increase of 0.7%. The increase in DVD
comparable store sales reflects the continued industry growth in 
this category offset by a lack of strong new releases and increased
competition. The Company plans to continue to grow market share in
this category by adding more product and increasing square footage
allocations. The video category, including DVD and VHS, represented
30.0% of the Company’s total sales in 2005. According to statistics
obtained from Rentrak Home Video EssentialsTM, DVD retail sales in
2005 were $15.7 billion, an increase of 4.5% over 2004.

Video Games
The Company offers video game hardware and software in most of
its stores, with a mix that favors software. Comparable sales in the
video games category increased 2.3% in 2005. The results in this
category were positively impacted by Microsoft’s® Xbox 360°, which
was released in November 2005. The comparable store sales 
increase in this category was partially offset by hardware shortages,
delays in release of highly anticipated software titles and consumer
anticipation of next-generation hardware. Video games represented
7.3% of the Company’s total sales in 2005. According to The 
NPD Group, industry sales for 2005 were $10.5 billion including
portable and console hardware, software and accessories, an
increase of 6% over 2004.

Gross Profit. The following table sets forth a year-over-year
comparison of the Company’s Gross Profit:

2005 vs. 2004

(in thousands) 2005 2004 $ %

Gross Profit $431,613 $495,134 $(63,521) (12.8%)

As a percentage of sales 34.9% 36.3%

Gross profit as a percentage of sales decreased in 2005 as
compared to 2004 due to an increase in the Company’s distribution
center costs by 30 basis points, a shift in the mix of sales from
music to DVD and video games categories of 30 basis points and

more competitive pricing in DVD, video games and accessories
categories of 50 basis points.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. The following table sets
forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s SG&A expenses:

2005 vs. 2004

(in thousands) 2005 2004 $ %

Selling, general and 
administrative expenses $426, 854 $450,162 $(23,308) (5.2%)

As a percentage of sales 34.5% 33.0%

The Company’s SG&A expenses decreased in 2005 due to the
operation of fewer stores. The Company operated an average of 
796 stores in 2005 compared to an average of 846 stores in 2004, 
a decrease of 6%. The increase in the SG&A expenses rate as a
percentage of sales was due to lower sales.

Other Income. Other income includes interest income. For 2005,
other income also includes a realized gain of $0.8 million on the 
sale of available-for-sale securities.

Income Tax Expense. The following table sets forth a year-over-year
comparison of the Company’s provision for income taxes:

2005 vs. 2004

(in thousands) 2005 2004 $

Income tax expense $1,090 $4,892 $(3,802)

Effective tax rate 27.4% 11.2%

For 2005, the Company’s effective tax rate was negatively impacted
by changes in Ohio State tax legislation. The legislation phases out
state corporation franchise taxes which are based on income. The
impact of the Ohio tax legislation resulted in an increase in the 
state valuation allowance of $1.9 million, associated with deferred 
tax assets, principally net operating losses that, based on
management’s estimates, will not be realized during the phase-out
period. Additionally, the valuation allowance was increased by 
$0.9 million for deferred tax assets attributable to state net operating
losses impacted as a result of projected lower future taxable income
within certain states’ expiration periods. During 2005, the Company
recognized a tax benefit of $2.0 million, attributable to the effect of
additional deductible temporary differences. For a reconciliation of the
federal statutory tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate,
see Note 6 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The effective tax rate for 2004 was positively impacted by a benefit
arising from the closing of a federal income tax examination and 
a decrease in the valuation allowance. The benefit of $10.5 million
was recorded in the second fiscal quarter and included the closing 
of all matters not previously settled in relation to corporate-owned
life insurance (“COLI”) policies, which were part of the Company’s
acquisition of Camelot in 1999 (see Note 6 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on 
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Form 10-K). The original income tax payable amounts which were
recorded during the years covered by the examination were reversed
subsequent to the final settlement resulting in the tax benefit. With
the closing of the tax examination, the Company has surrendered
the remaining COLI policies. In addition, the valuation allowance 
was decreased by $2.2 million to account for the planned utilization
of federal and state net operating loss carryforwards during the
expiration periods previously considered uncertain (see Note 6 of
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K). 

Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle. The Company
adopted FIN 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations – an interpretation of FASB Statement No.143, effective
January 28, 2006. In accordance with FIN 47, the Company recorded
an asset and a corresponding liability for the present value of the
estimated asset retirement obligations associated with the fixed
assets and leasehold improvements at its store locations that arise
under the terms of operating leases. The Company recognized an
expense for the cumulative effect of this change in accounting
principle in the fourth quarter of 2005 of $2.3 million, net of 
income taxes of $1.5 million.

Extraordinary Gain. In 2004, the Company recorded an extraordinary
gain as the result of acquiring substantially all the net assets of
Wherehouse Entertainment Inc. and CD World Inc. in October 2003
for $35.2 million and $1.9 million, respectively. The purchase price
was allocated on a preliminary basis using information available at
the time. The gain represents the excess of the fair value of net
assets acquired over the purchase price. In accordance with 
SFAS No.141, Business Combinations, the allocation of the purchase
price to the assets and liabilities acquired was finalized and adjusted
in 2004, resulting in an extraordinary gain of $3.2 million, which is
net of income taxes of $2.0 million, related to unallocated negative
goodwill. The extraordinary gain represents adjustments to the 
value of liquidated inventory ($2.5 million), an adjustment to
customer liabilities related to gift cards based on the redemption
experience since acquisition ($2.1 million) and occupancy related
expenses ($0.6 million).

Net Income. The following table sets forth a year-over-year
comparison of the Company’s net income:

2005 vs. 2004

(in thousands) 2005 2004 $ %

Income before extraordinary 
gain – unallocated negative 
goodwill and cumulative 
effect of a change in 
accounting principle $2,886 $38,675 $(35,789) (92.5%)

Extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill, net of 
income taxes of $0 and 
$1,979 for 2005 and 2004, 
respectively — 3,166

Cumulative effect of a change 
in accounting principle, net 
of income taxes of $1,505 
and $0 for 2005 and 2004, 
respectively (2,277) —

Net income $ 609 $41,841 $(41,232)

Net income as a
percentage of sales 0.1% 3.1%

The decrease in income before extraordinary gain and cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle and net income in 2005 
as compared to 2004 is due to the decrease in income from
operations driven by lower sales and resulting lower gross profit,
partially offset by lower SG&A expenses, and a lower income tax
benefit of $2.0 million recorded in 2005, compared to a tax benefit
of $10.5 million, which was recorded in the second fiscal quarter of
2004 (see Note 6 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K).

Fiscal Year Ended January 29, 2005 (“2004”)
Compared to Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2004 (“2003”)

Sales. The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of
the Company’s total sales:

2004 vs. 2003

(in thousands) 2004 2003 $ %

Sales $1,365,133 $1,330,626 $34,507 2.6%

Sales increased in 2004 despite a decrease in the store count from
881 at the end of 2003 to 810 at the end of 2004. The increase in
sales resulted from a comparable store sales increase of 0.8%. 
In 2004, comparable store sales increased 1.9% for mall-based
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stores and decreased 1.3% for freestanding stores. A store is
included in comparable store sales calculations at the beginning of
its thirteenth full month of operation. Sales from new and acquired
stores and stores closed during the year, excluded from comparable 
store sales, for 2004 and 2003 are $145.8 million and $121.2 million,
respectively. Product units sold in 2004 increased 3.4% over 2003,
and average retail for units sold decreased 0.6%.

Sales by merchandise category and comparable store sales for 2004
and 2003 were as follows:

Comparable
2004 2003 Store Sales

($ in thousands)

Music:
Compact discs $ 736,149 $ 717,145 (0.8%)
Audio cassettes and singles 14,463 23,819 (38.4)

Total Music 750,612 740,964 (2.0)

Video:
DVD 360,262 313,977 14.6
VHS 37,781 60,891 (35.3)

Total Video 398,043 374,868 6.5

Video games 89,297 80,888 9.6
Other 127,181 133,906 (5.8)

Total $1,365,133 $1,330,626 0.8%

The “Other” category includes electronics, accessories, boutique
and other sales, none of which individually exceeds 5%.

Music
The Company’s stores offer a wide range of CDs across most music
genres, including new releases from current artists as well as an
extensive catalog of music from past periods and artists. This
category represented 55% of the Company’s sales in 2004.

The Company’s annual CD unit sales increased 4.0% in 2004.
Despite positive comparable store sales during the first and second
quarters of 2004, annual comparable store sales in the CD category
declined in 2004. The decrease is largely due to weak industry new
releases and effects of the much publicized unauthorized duplication
of music. The Company’s annual CD unit sales compared favorably
with the SoundScan-reported industry increase of 1.9% in 2004. 
The industry increase marked the first rise in four years. Despite 
the growing popularity of legal digital music downloads, the CD
format accounts for 98% of the 666 million albums sold, according
to SoundScan.

The Company is actively embracing digital media in its stores and
through its e-commerce activities and regards digital downloading 
as yet another format for selling media products. In the fourth
quarter of 2004, the Company unveiled the f.y.e. Download Zone, 
a subscription-based digital music service, where customers can
have access to over a million songs for a monthly fee of $14.95.

Video
The Company offers DVDs and VHS in all of its stores. The growth 
in the DVD format has more than offset the corresponding decline 
in VHS for the Company. The increase in the Company’s comparable
store sales for video was driven by DVD comparable store sales
which increased 14.6%. The Company plans to continue to grow 
its business and market share in this category by adding more
product and increasing square footage allocations. The video
category, including DVD and VHS, represented 29% of the
Company’s total sales in 2004.

According to statistics obtained from Rentrak Home Video
EssentialsTM, video sales, including DVD and VHS, increased 15% to
$16.1 billion in 2004, as compared to 2003. The increase in 2004 
was driven by a 27% increase in DVD sales. VHS sales declined 
by 57% during the same period. 

Video Games
The Company offers game hardware and software in most of its
stores, with a mix that favors software. The Company’s video games
business improved steadily during the second half of 2004, reversing
first half results. The Company’s comparable sales in this category
increased 9.6% in 2004. The results in the video games category
were driven by the Company’s initiatives to improve product selection
and increase the category’s visibility in its stores. The video games
category was also positively impacted by the success of new
releases, including Grand Theft Auto – San Andreas and Halo2. 
The category represented 7% of the Company’s total sales in 2004.

Software sales for the game industry were $6.2 billion, up 8%, 
or $400 million over sales in 2003. Industry sales for 2004 of 
$9.9 billion, including portable and console hardware, software and
accessories, decreased by less than 1% over 2003 sales, according
to The NPD Group, which tracks video games sales in the United
States. For 2004, console software, portable game software and
portable game hardware also experienced unit sales increases of
8%, 13% and 9%, respectively.

Gross Profit. The following table sets forth a year-over-year
comparison of the Company’s Gross Profit:

2004 vs. 2003

(in thousands) 2004 2003 $ %

Gross profit $495,134 $487,900 $7,234 1.5%

As a percentage of sales 36.3% 36.7%

The decrease in the gross profit rate as a percentage of sales was
due to a continued shift in the mix of the Company’s sales toward
DVD and video games, and higher markdowns in the electronics,
accessories and boutique categories due to fourth quarter
promotions and clearance activity. The Company also incurred 
higher product shrink expenses and distribution costs associated
with bringing its Carson, California distribution facility into full
production during the year.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. The following table sets
forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s SG&A expenses:

2004 vs. 2003

(in thousands) 2004 2003 $ %

Selling, general and 
administrative expenses $450,162 $459,441 $(9,279) (2.0%)

As a percentage of sales 33.0% 34.5%

The Company’s SG&A expenses were lower in 2004 due to the
absence of non-recurring charges including the write-off of long-lived
assets of $3.7 million related to the outsourcing of its Internet
operations, and transition costs of $2.3 million associated with 
the Wherehouse acquisition in 2003. The Company also recognized
approximately $5.0 million lower incentive bonuses in 2004 as
compared to 2003. The improvement in the SG&A expenses rate 
as a percentage of sales was also due to the increase in 2004 sales.

Income Tax Expense. The following table sets forth a year-over-year
comparison of the Company’s provision for income taxes:

2004 vs. 2003

(in thousands) 2004 2003 $

Income tax expense $4,892 $8,302 $(3,410)

Effective tax rate 11.2% 30.7%

For 2004, the Company’s effective tax rate of 11.2% was positively
impacted by a benefit arising from the closing of a federal income
tax examination and a decrease in the valuation allowance. The
benefit of $10.5 million was recorded in the second fiscal quarter and
included the closing of all matters not previously settled in relation to
corporate-owned life insurance (“COLI”) policies, which were part of
the Company’s acquisition of Camelot in 1999 (see Note 6 of Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K). The original income tax payable amounts which were
recorded during the years covered by the examination were reversed
subsequent to the final settlement resulting in the tax benefit. With
the closing of the tax examination, the Company has surrendered
the remaining COLI policies. In addition, the valuation allowance was
decreased by $2.2 million to account for the planned utilization of
federal and state net operating loss carryforwards during the
expiration periods previously considered uncertain.

For 2003, the Company’s effective tax rate of 30.7% was positively
impacted by improved earnings before taxes and the settlement of
its COLI litigation with the IRS. An increase in earnings improves the
rate due to the rate leverage on fixed-base state taxes recorded in
income tax expense. The Company recorded an additional tax benefit
of $2.1 million as a result of the COLI settlement payment terms
with the IRS that it recorded in the second quarter (see Note 6 of
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K). For a reconciliation of the federal statutory 
tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate, see Note 6 of
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Extraordinary Gain. In 2004, the Company recorded an extraordinary
gain as the result of acquiring substantially all the net assets of
Wherehouse Entertainment Inc. and CD World Inc. in October 2003
for $35.2 million and $1.9 million, respectively. The purchase price
was allocated on a preliminary basis using information available at
the time. The gain represents the excess of the fair value of net
assets acquired over the purchase price. In accordance with SFAS
No.141, Business Combinations, the allocation of the purchase price
to the assets and liabilities acquired was finalized and adjusted in
2004, resulting in an extraordinary gain of $3.2 million, which is net
of income taxes of $2.0 million, related to unallocated negative
goodwill. The extraordinary gain represents adjustments to the 
value of liquidated inventory ($2.5 million), an adjustment to
customer liabilities related to gift cards based on the redemption
experience since acquisition ($2.1 million) and occupancy related
expenses ($0.6 million).

Net Income. The following table sets forth a year-over-year
comparison of the Company’s net income:

2004 vs. 2003

(in thousands) 2004 2003 $ %

Income before 
extraordinary gain $38,675 $ 18,728 $19,947 106.5%

Extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill, net of 
income taxes of $1,979 and 
$2,437 for 2004 and 2003, 
respectively 3,166 4,339

Net income $41,841 $23,067 $ 18,774 81.4%

Net income as 
a percentage of sales 3.1% 1.7%

The increase in income before extraordinary gain and net income in
2004 as compared to 2003 is due to increased sales and resulting
gross profit, lower SG&A expenses and the income tax benefit
recorded in the second fiscal quarter of 2004 (see Note 6 of Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity and Cash Flows: The Company’s primary sources of 
working capital are cash provided by operations and borrowing
capacity under its revolving credit facility. The Company’s cash flows
fluctuate from quarter to quarter, due to various items, including
seasonality of sales and earnings, merchandise inventory purchases
and the related terms on the purchases, store openings, tax
payments, capital expenditures and stock repurchase activity.
Management believes it will have adequate resources to fund its
cash needs for the foreseeable future, and anticipates that cash
flows from operations will be sufficient to fund its capital spending,
its seasonal increase in inventory, income tax payments and other
operating cash requirements and commitments. Management
anticipates any cash requirements due to an unanticipated shortfall 
in cash from operations, will be funded by the Company’s revolving 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries



17

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries

credit facility, discussed hereafter. Management believes its 
reported cash flows are indicative of cash flow for the foreseeable
future and is not currently aware of any trends, uncertainties or other
significant events that would cause liquidity to increase or decrease 
in a material way except as discussed under Subsequent Events – 
Note 13 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

However, there can be no assurance, that the Company will continue to
generate cash flows at or above current levels or that we will be able 
to maintain the Company’s ability to borrow under the revolving credit
facility. The Company does not expect any material changes in the mix
(between equity and debt) or the relative cost of capital resources.

The following table sets forth a three year summary of key components
of cash flow and working capital:

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in thousands) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Operating cash flows $25,247 $105,931 $(80,684) (76%) $66,883 $39,048 58%
Investing cash flows (40,517) (35,398) (5,119) (14%) (54,033) 18,635 34%
Financing cash flows (17,289) (32,687) 15,398 47% (17,978) (14,709) (82%)

Capital expenditures (41,330) (33,398) (7,932) (24%) (16,989) (16,409) (97%)

Cash and cash equivalents 197,209 229,768 (32,559) (14%) 191,922 37,846 20%
Merchandise inventory 402,712 431,246 (28,534) (7%) 424,783 6,463 2%
Working capital 257,467 278,066 (20,599) (7%) 253,475 24,591 10%
Inventory turns 1.9 2.0 2.1

The decrease in cash from operating activities in 2005 was the result
of lower net income of $0.6 million as compared to net income of
$41.8 million in 2004. It was further due to a net $7.0 million cash use
in 2005, in net inventory (inventory less accounts payable) as compared
to a $48.1 million net cash source in 2004. The net $7.0 million cash
use in 2005 was the result of larger than usual inventory payments in
early 2005 for goods received in the fourth quarter of 2004.

The Company used less cash in 2005 for the payment of accrued
expenses ($2.8 million cash use in 2005 as compared to $10.4 million
cash use in 2004) and taxes ($7.9 million cash use in 2005 as
compared to $15.1 million cash use in 2004). All other operating 
cash sources, net, were approximately $10.7 million.

The Company monitors various statistics to measure its management
of inventory, including inventory turn (annual cost of sales divided by
average inventory balances), inventory investment per square foot
and inventory leverage (accounts payable divided by inventory).
Inventory turn for 2005 was 1.9 compared to 2.0 in 2004. Inventory
investment per square foot was $83 per square foot at the end of
2005 as compared to $86 per square foot at the end of 2004.
Inventory leverage was 80% as of January 28, 2006 compared 
with 83% as of January 29, 2005. Management considers these
results to be in a normal operating range. Management does not
anticipate large fluctuations in inventory or accounts payable 
balances for its existing stores in the foreseeable future.

Cash used in investing activities was $40.5 million in 2005, as
compared to $35.4 million in 2004. In 2005, the primary use of 
cash investing activities was $41.3 million for capital expenditures.
The Company had capital expenditures in 2005 of $16.0 million for
new store openings and relocations and for store improvements. 
The Company further made investments in its store technology 
and upgraded its LVS (in-store Listening and Viewing Stations) for 
$10.7 million. The Company also replaced its store point-of-sale
system for $12.0 million, as discussed hereafter.

The Company had capital expenditures in 2004 of $24.5 million for
new store openings and relocations and for store improvements. 
The Company further made investments in its store technology and
upgraded its LVS for $5.2 million. The remainder for 2004 was for
other technology upgrades.

The Company typically finances its capital expenditures through cash
generated from operations. It may also receive landlord allowances 
or concessions for store openings, relocations or improvements. 
The Company anticipates capital spending of $45.0 million in 2006. 

Cash used in financing activities was $17.3 million in 2005, as
compared to $32.7 million in 2004. In 2005, the primary sources 
of cash were $12.9 million through capital lease transactions and
$4.2 million from the exercise of stock options. In 2005 and 2004,
the primary use of cash in financing activities was $31.3 million and
$40.2 million, respectively, to repurchase outstanding shares of the
Company’s Common Stock under programs authorized by the 
Board of Directors. The most recent share repurchase program 
was authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors in May 2003. 
As of January 28, 2006, the Company had purchased all the 10 million
shares authorized under this program at a cost of $88.5 million.

The increase in operating cash flows in 2004 was due to increased
earnings and the increase in accounts payable, offset by decreases 
in accrued expenses and income taxes payable in 2004. Inventory
increased $4.0 million (net of adjustments related to extraordinary
gain) in 2004 as compared to a decrease of $5.3 million in 2003. 
The rate of inventory turn (which is a measure of how fast inventory
is sold and is calculated by dividing current year’s cost of sales by
average inventory) for 2004 was 2.0 comparing with 2.1 in 2003.
Inventory was $86 per square foot at the end of 2004 as compared
to $77 per square foot at the end of 2003. The increase in inventory
can be attributed to the fact that the Company anticipated greater
sales than actually realized in the fourth quarter of 2004. Management
does not anticipate significant changes to its inventory turn rates 
and inventory investment per square foot for the foreseeable future.
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Income taxes payable decreased $15.2 million due to the recording
of a tax benefit of $10.5 million in the second quarter of 2004 
and tax payments of $12.5 million compared to a provision of 
$8.5 million in 2004. The seasonality of the Company’s earnings
results in substantially all of income tax payments to be made
subsequent to year-end. Accounts payable leveraging (the 
percentage of merchandise inventory financed by vendor credit
terms, e.g., accounts payable divided by merchandise inventory)
increased to 83.1% as of January 29, 2005 compared with 72.0% 
as of January 31, 2004. The increase in leverage was due to the
absence of last year’s inventory related to the acquired Wherehouse
stores, which was funded in October 2003 without the corresponding
accounts payable, and of which a significant amount was on hand 
at prior year-end. The decrease in accrued expenses in 2004 of 
$10.4 million was due to lower accruals for gift cards ($2.7 million),
lower accruals for employee incentive costs ($4.1 million) and the
absence of accruals for acquisition related costs in 2003 ($1.8 million).
See Note 3 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for detail.

Cash used in investing activities was $35.4 million in 2004, as
compared to $54.0 million in 2003. In 2004, the primary uses of cash
were $33.4 million for capital expenditures and $2.0 million for the
acquisition of businesses (see Note 3 in Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
detail). The majority of the Company’s capital expenditures in 2004
were spent on store improvements, relocations and new store
openings. The Company also made investments in technology in its
stores, including upgrading and maintenance of LVS. The investment
in technology was $5.2 million. The remainder of the Company’s
capital expenditures in 2004 related to miscellaneous MIS
(Management Information Systems) projects. In 2003, primary 
uses of cash were $37.0 million for the acquisition of businesses
(see Note 3 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K) and store improvements,
relocations and new store openings. In 2003, the Company made
investments of $4.0 million in technology in its stores, including
upgrading and maintenance of LVS and continued enhancement 
of the Company’s Web site www.fye.com.

Cash used in financing activities was $32.7 million in 2004, as
compared to $18.0 million in 2003. In 2004 and 2003, the primary
use of cash used in financing activities was $40.2 million and 
$17.0 million, respectively, to repurchase outstanding shares of the
Company’s Common Stock under programs authorized by the Board
of Directors. The current share repurchase program was authorized
by the Company’s Board of Directors in May 2003, and allows the
Company to repurchase up to 10 million shares of Common Stock
from time to time on the open market. As of January 2004, the
Company had completed the purchase of 15 million shares of
common stock under previously announced programs. As of 
January 29, 2005, the Company had purchased 6.9 million shares
under this plan, at a total cost of $57.2 million, and 3.1 million shares
were available for purchase under the current program. In 2004, 
the Company purchased 3.8 million shares.

Effective March 27, 2006, the Company acquired 335 Musicland
stores for a total cash consideration of $104.2 million and 
$18.1 million in assumed liabilities including certain customer
obligations, rent and occupancy liabilities and other employee
obligations. See Note 13 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements on this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

On January 5, 2006, the Company entered into a new five-year, 
$100 million revolving secured Credit Agreement with Bank of
America, N.A. that expires in January 2010. The revolving credit
facility contains provisions governing additional indebtedness and
acquisitions and is secured by the Company’s eligible inventory,
proceeds from the sale of inventory and by the stock of the
Company’s subsidiaries. Prior to the new credit agreement, the
Company had a three-year, $100 million revolving secured credit
facility with Congress Financial Corporation that would have 
expired in July 2006. Subsequent to January 28, 2006, the Company
entered into a First Amendment of the Credit Agreement with Bank 
of America, N.A. on March 26, 2006, which increases the maximum
amount available for borrowing under the revolving secured credit
facility to $130 million.

As of January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, the Company had
$0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively, in outstanding letter of
credit obligations under the credit agreements with Bank of America,
N.A. and Congress Financial Corporation, respectively. The Company
had $99.5 million and $99.7 million, available for borrowing as of
January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, respectively. Interest
expense in 2005 was $3.0 million, of which $1.5 million was 
incurred for capital leases. Interest expense in 2004 was 
$2.4 million, of which $2.0 million was incurred for capital leases.

During 2005, the Company financed the replacement of its 
point-of-sale system through a capital lease arrangement in the
amount of $12.0 million. The lease arrangement has an average
interest rate of 5.76% and will be repaid in monthly installments 
of $229,000 over five years. As of January 28, 2006, the outstanding
balance on the lease was $10.4 million.

During 2005, the Company purchased software licenses through 
a capital lease arrangement for $0.9 million, with an interest rate 
of 5.75%. The capital lease will be repaid in quarterly installments 
of $122,000 over two years. As of January 28, 2006, the outstanding
balance on the lease was $0.5 million.

During 2005, the Company acquired an 80% interest in a 
company that is fully consolidated for financial reporting purposes.
The Company has committed funding of $3.0 million over a 
period of three years, of which $1.0 million was funded as of 
January 28, 2006.

During 2004, the Company borrowed $5.8 million under a mortgage
loan to finance the purchase of real estate. The mortgage loan is
repayable in monthly installments of $64,000 over 10 years with a
fixed interest rate of 6.0% and is collateralized by the real estate. 
The mortgage loan contains a minimum net worth (shareholders’
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equity) covenant of $290 million, excluding the impact, if any, of
certain non-cash charges. As of January 28, 2006, the outstanding
balance on the loan was $5.1 million.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments. The following table
summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations at January 28, 2006,
and the effect that such obligations are expected to have on liquidity
and cash flows in future periods.

Related Party Transactions
The Company leases its 181,000 square foot distribution
center/office facility in Albany, New York from Robert J. Higgins, its
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and largest shareholder, under
three capital leases that expire in the year 2015. The original
distribution center/office facility was constructed in 1985.

Under the three capital leases, dated April 1, 1985, November 1, 1989
and September 1, 1998 (the “Leases”), the Company paid Mr. Higgins
an annual rent of $1.9 million, $1.8 million and $1.8 million in 2005,
2004 and 2003 respectively. Pursuant to the terms of the lease
agreements, effective January 1, 2006 and every two years
thereafter, rental payments will increase in accordance with the
biennial increase in the Consumer Price Index. Under the terms 
of the lease agreements, the Company is responsible for property
taxes, insurance and other operating costs with respect to the
premises. Mr. Higgins’ obligation for principal and interest on his
underlying indebtedness relating to the real property is approximately
$1.1 million per year. None of the leases contain any real property
purchase options at the expiration of their terms.

The Company leases one of its retail stores from Mr. Higgins under 
an operating lease. Annual rental payments under this lease were
$40,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003. Under the terms of the lease, the
Company pays property taxes, maintenance and a contingent rental 

if a specified sales level is achieved. Total additional charges 
for the store, including contingent rent, were approximately $4,400,
$14,500 and $4,600 in 2005, 2004 and 2003 respectively.

The Company regularly utilizes privately chartered aircraft owned 
or partially owned by Mr. Higgins. Under an unwritten agreement
with Quail Aero Services of Syracuse, Inc., a corporation in which 
Mr. Higgins holds a 47.5% share, the Company paid $0, $1,000 
and $60,000 for chartered aircraft services in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The Company also charters an aircraft from Crystal Jet,
a corporation wholly-owned by Mr. Higgins. Payments to Crystal Jet
aggregated $6,000, $10,000 and $13,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The Company also charters an aircraft from Richmor
Aviation, an unaffiliated corporation that leases an aircraft owned 
by Mr. Higgins. Payments to Richmor Aviation in 2005, 2004 and
2003 were $276,000, $314,000 and $235,000, respectively. The
Company believes that the charter rates and terms are as favorable
to the Company as those generally available to it from other
commercial charters.

Michael Solow, a member of the Company’s Board of Directors, 
is a partner of the law firm Kaye Scholer LLP, which rendered legal
services to the Company in 2004 and 2003 for which the Company
incurred fees of $115,000 and $202,000 respectively. Kaye Scholer
concluded its representation of the Company in 2004.

Contractual Obligation 2006 2007-2008 2009-2010 2011 and Beyond Total

$ in thousands

Operating lease obligations $101,583 $156,691 $ 83,373 $50,596 $392,243
Capital lease obligations 5,195 9,539 7,418 9,356 31,508
Long-term debt (principal) 477 1,043 1,176 2,368 5,064
Long-term debt (interest) 291 491 358 257 1,397
Purchase obligations(1) — — — — —
Deferred rent and other long-term liabilities(2) 1,637 9,797 1,649 1,550 14,633
Pension benefits 50 2,362 2,426 7,101 11,939

Total $109,233 $179,923 $96,400 $71,228 $456,784

(1) Purchase obligations include all legally binding contracts such as software acquisition/license commitments and legally binding service contracts or other commitments. Purchase orders for inventory and
other services are not included in the table above. Purchase orders represent authorization to purchase rather than binding agreements. For the purposes of this table, contractual obligations for purchase of
goods or services are defined as agreements that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable
price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. Our purchase orders are based on our current inventory needs and are fulfilled by our suppliers within short time periods.

(2) As part of a settlement agreement with the IRS, the Company is required to pay interest of approximately $180,000 every six months, through fiscal year 2007, and a final principal payment of $7.1 million in
2007. These payments are pursuant to the settlement of matters with regard to corporate-owned life insurance polices and the principal portion is reported in other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of January 28, 2006. Included in deferred rent and other long-term liabilities are unfavorable lease valuations of $1.0 million and the long-term portion of deferred rent of $8.7 million which
are not reflected in the table above as the underlying agreements are not legally binding. Also included in long-term liabilities is the long-term portion of the straight line rent liability of $10.6 million, which 
is included in operating lease obligations in the table above.

Included in deferred rent and other long-term liabilities above, is the long-term liability corresponding to the present value of the estimated asset retirement obligations associated with the fixed assets 
and leasehold improvements at the Company’s store locations that arise under the terms of operating leases. 

During 2005, the Company acquired an 80% interest in a company that is fully consolidated for financial reporting purposes in 2006. The Company has committed funding of $3.0 million over a period of
three years, of which $1.0 million was funded as of January 28, 2006 and the remaining obligations are included in deferred rent and other long-term liabilities above.

Subsequent to January 28, 2006, the Company acquired an 80% interest in a company that will be fully consolidated for financial reporting purposes. The Company has committed funding of $5.2 million 
over a period of two years of which $1.2 million was committed as of March 25, 2006. This commitment has not been included in the table above as it does not represent a contractual obligation as of 
January 28, 2006.

The Company offers a 401(k) Savings Plan to eligible employees (see also Note 9 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K). Total expense related to the
Company’s matching contribution was $957,000, $897,000 and $858,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company expects to expense and fund an amount in 2006 that is comparable to these
historical amounts.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires that management apply accounting policies
and make estimates and assumptions that affect results of operations
and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements. Management continually evaluates its estimates and
judgments including those related to merchandise inventory and
return costs, valuation of long-lived assets, income taxes, 
stock-based compensation and accounting for gift card liability.
Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Note 1 of 
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K includes a summary of the significant
accounting policies and methods used by the Company in the
preparation of its consolidated financial statements. Management
believes that of the Company’s significant accounting policies, the
following may involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity:

Merchandise Inventory and Return Costs: Inventory is stated at 
the lower of cost or market as determined by the average cost
method. The average cost method attaches a cost to each item 
and is a blended average of the original purchase price and those 
of subsequent purchases or other cost adjustments throughout 
the life cycle of that item.

Inventory valuation requires significant judgment and estimates,
including obsolescence, shrink and any adjustments to market value,
if market value is lower than cost. Inherent in the entertainment
software industry is the risk of obsolete inventory. Typically, newer
releases generate a higher product demand. Some vendors offer
credits to reduce the cost of products that are selling more slowly,
thus allowing for a reduction in the selling price and reducing the
possibility for items to become obsolete. The Company records
obsolescence and any adjustments to market value (if lower than
cost) based on current and anticipated demand, customer
preferences, and market conditions. The provision for inventory
shrink is estimated as a percentage of sales for the period from 
the last date a physical inventory was performed to the end of the
fiscal year. Such estimates are based on historical results and trends
and the shrink results from the last physical inventory. Physical
inventories are taken at least annually for all stores throughout 
the year and inventory records are adjusted accordingly.

Shrink expense, including obsolescence was $15.1 million, $17.2 million
and $14.0 million, in 2005, 2004 and 2003 respectively. As a rate to
sales, this equaled 1.2%, 1.3% and 1.0%, respectively. The Company

expects to realize approximately the same rate of shrink and
obsolescence for the foreseeable future as recorded in 2005.
Presently, a 0.1% change in the rate of shrink and obsolescence
provision would equal approximately $1.2 million in additional charge
or benefit to cost of sales, based on 2005 sales.

The Company is generally entitled to return merchandise purchased
from major vendors for credit against other purchases from these
vendors. Certain vendors reduce the credit with a merchandise
return charge ranging from 0% to 20% of the original merchandise
purchase price depending on the type of merchandise being
returned. Certain other vendors charge a handling fee based on 
units returned. The Company records merchandise return charges 
in cost of sales. The Company incurred merchandise return charges
in its fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003 of $5.6 million, $12.4 million
and $13.5 million, respectively. Merchandise returns decreased 
11% in 2005. Return penalties were lower in 2005 than in prior 
years as the major vendors have decreased the up-front incentives
and in turn, lowered the back-end penalty rate. The level of
merchandise return charges incurred is directly related to the 
level of merchandise returns.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets: The Company assesses the
impairment of long-lived assets to determine if any part of the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors that the Company
considers to be important when assessing impairment include:

• significant underperformance relative to historical or projected
future operating results;

• significant changes in the manner of the use of acquired assets 
or the strategy for the Company’s overall business;

• significant negative industry or economic trends;

If the Company determines that the carrying value of a long-lived
asset may not be recoverable, it tests for impairment to determine 
if an impairment charge is needed. Impairment losses recorded in
2005, 2004 and 2003 were $0, $0 and $3.7 million, respectively.
The 2003 amount which is reflected in SG&A expenses in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations represents the write-down 
of the fixed assets of www.fye.com pursuant to the Company’s
decision to outsource the operation of its f.y.e. Web site. Losses for
store closings in the ordinary course of business represent the write-
down of the net book value of abandoned fixtures and leasehold
improvements. The loss on disposal of fixed assets related to store
closings was $2.5 million, $2.8 million and $2.5 million in 2005, 2004
and 2003, respectively, and is included in SG&A expenses. Losses
due to the write-down of fixed assets related to store closings are
included in “loss on disposal of fixed assets” in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows. Store closings usually occur at the
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expiration of the lease, at which time leasehold improvements,
which constitute a majority of the abandoned assets, are fully
depreciated. Also, actual store closures usually occur within three
months of the planned store closure date. As a result, changes in
depreciation estimates as required by Accounting Principles Board,
Opinion No.20, Accounting Changes (“APB 20”), do not have a
material impact on financial results. 

Income Taxes: Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and
liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities
and their respective tax bases and tax operating loss carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax
rates is recognized in the results of operations in the period that
includes the enactment date.

Accounting for income taxes requires management to make
estimates and judgments regarding interpretation of various taxing
jurisdictions, laws and regulations as well as the ultimate realization
of deferred tax assets. These estimates and judgments include the
generation of future taxable income, viable tax planning strategies
and support of tax filings. Valuation allowances are recorded against
deferred tax assets if, based upon management’s estimates of
realizability, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of these
deferred tax assets will not be realized. For additional discussion
regarding income taxes, refer to Note 6 in Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Stock-Based Compensation: For periods 2005 and prior, the Company
applied the intrinsic value-based method of accounting prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No.25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations including
FASB Interpretation No.44, Accounting for Certain Transactions
Involving Stock Compensation – An Interpretation of APB No.25,
in accounting for its fixed plan stock options. Under this method,
compensation expense would be recorded on the date of grant only
if the current market price of the underlying stock exceeded the
exercise price. Unearned compensation recognized for restricted
stock awards is shown as a separate component of shareholders’
equity and is amortized to expense over the vesting period of the
stock award using the straight-line method. SFAS No.123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS
No.148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition 
and Disclosure, established accounting and disclosure requirements
using a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation plans. As allowed by SFAS No.123, the

Company elected to continue to apply the intrinsic value-based
method of accounting described above, and adopted the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No.123 and SFAS No.148. The Company
adopted the expense recognition provisions of SFAS No.123(R),
effective for fiscal 2006 that began on January 29, 2006.

In December 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the
acceleration of vesting of previously granted unvested annual options
awarded to employees and officers under the Company’s Stock
Option Plans which had exercise prices greater than $10.00 per
share. Options to purchase 2.3 million shares became exercisable
immediately, representing 24% of total options outstanding, as 
a result of the vesting acceleration. The decision to accelerate
vesting of these stock options was made primarily to avoid
recognizing compensation expense in the Consolidated Statement 
of Operations in future financial statements upon the adoption 
of SFAS No.123(R), Share-Based Payment, which the Company 
will adopt on January 29, 2006. The acceleration of vesting of 
these stock options resulted in compensation expenses of 
$5.9 million, in the pro forma net income (loss) results (see 
Note 1 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K).

Accounting for Gift Card Liability: The Company sells gift cards that
are redeemable only for merchandise and have no expiration date.
The Company derecognizes card liability when either customers
redeem cards, at which point the Company records revenue; or the
Company determines it does not have a legal obligation to remit
unredeemed cards to the relevant jurisdictions and the likelihood 
of the cards being redeemed becomes remote, at which point the
Company records breakage as a credit to SG&A expenses. The
Company’s accounting for gift cards is based on estimating the
Company’s liability for future card redemptions as of a reporting
period end. Estimated liability is equal to two years of unredeemed
cards, plus an amount for outstanding cards that may possibly be
redeemed for the cumulative look-back period, exclusive of the last
two years. The Company’s ability to reasonably and reliably estimate
the liability is based on historical experience with gift cards and
similar types of arrangements and the existence of a large volume 
of relatively homogeneous transactions. The Company’s estimate is
not susceptible to significant external factors and the circumstances
around card sales and redemptions have not changed significantly
over time.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No.155, Accounting for
Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments – an Amendment of FASB
Statements No.133 and 140, to simplify and make more consistent
the accounting for certain financial instruments. Specifically, SFAS
No.155 amends SFAS No.133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments
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and Hedging Activities, to permit fair value remeasurement for 
any hybrid financial instrument with an embedded derivative that
otherwise would require bifurcation, provided that the whole
instrument is accounted for on a fair value basis. SFAS No.155
amends SFAS No.140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities, to allow a
qualifying special-purpose entity to hold a derivative financial
instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another
derivative financial instrument. SFAS No.155 applies to all financial
instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity’s 
first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006, with earlier
application allowed. The adoption of SFAS No.155 is not expected 
to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
position or results of operations.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No.154, Accounting Changes
and Error Corrections, a Replacement of APB Opinion No.20,
Accounting Changes and FASB Statement No.3, Reporting
Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. SFAS No.154
provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting
changes and error corrections. It establishes, unless impracticable,
retrospective application as the required method for reporting a
change in accounting principle in the absence of explicit transition
requirements specific to the newly adopted accounting principle.
SFAS No.154 also provides guidance for determining whether
retrospective application of a change in accounting principle is
impracticable and for reporting a change when retrospective
application is impracticable. The provisions of SFAS No.154 are
effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in
fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The adoption of
the provisions of SFAS No.154 is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial condition or results
of operations.

In June 2005, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued 
EITF No.05-6, Determining the Amortization Period of Leasehold
Improvements (Purchased After Lease Inception) or Acquired in a
Business Combination (“EITF 05-6”). EITF 05-6 provides that the
amortization period for leasehold improvements acquired in a

business combination or purchased after the inception of a lease 
be the shorter of (a) the useful life of the assets or (b) a term that
includes required lease periods and renewals that are reasonably
assured upon the acquisition of the purchase. The provisions of 
EITF 05-6 are effective on a prospective basis for leasehold
improvements purchased or acquired beginning July 1, 2005. 
The adoption of EITF 05-6 did not have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No.123(R), Share-Based
Payment: an amendment of FASB Statements No.123 and 95.
SFAS No.123(R) requires an enterprise to measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an award of equity
instruments based on the fair value of the award at the grant date
(with limited exceptions) and recognize the compensation cost over
the period during which an employee is required to provide service 
in exchange for the award. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin No.107 (“SAB 107”), which expresses views of
the SEC staff regarding the application of SFAS No.123(R). Among
other things, SAB 107 provides interpretive guidance related to the
interaction between SFAS No.123(R) and certain SEC rules and
regulations, and provides the SEC staff’s views regarding the
valuation of share-based payment arrangements for public
companies. In February 2006, the FASB published FASB Staff
Position No.FAS 123(R)-4 (“FSP No.123(R)-4”), Classification of
Options and Similar Instruments Issued as Employee Compensation
that Allow for Cash Settlement Upon the Occurrence of a Contingent
Event, to amend guidance in SFAS No.123(R), on classifying options
and similar instruments issued as part of employee compensation
arrangements. As amended, SFAS No.123(R) requires options issued
as compensation to employees to be classified as liabilities if the
cash settlement feature can be exercised only upon the occurrence
of a contingent event that is outside the employee’s control, and
such event is deemed probable to occur. The Company will adopt the
expense recognition provisions of SFAS No.123(R) in its first quarter
of fiscal 2006 which began on January 29, 2006. If the Company had
applied the provisions of SFAS No.123(R) to the financial statements
for the period ended January 28, 2006, net loss would have been
greater by approximately $7.3 million or $(0.23) per share.
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January 28, January 29,
2006 2005

($ in thousands)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $197,209 $229,768
Accounts receivable 8,671 6,202
Merchandise inventory 402,712 431,246
Income taxes receivable 892 —
Prepaid expenses and other 5,737 6,804
Deferred taxes 11,266 15,526

Total current assets 626,487 689,546

FIXED ASSETS, net 132,464 130,196

DEFERRED TAXES 27,511 25,230
OTHER ASSETS 13,861 14,681

TOTAL ASSETS $800,323 $ 859,653 

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $ 322,831 $358,396 
Income taxes payable — 8,592
Accrued expenses and other 42,530 43,712
Current portion of long-term debt 477 448
Current portion of capital lease obligations 3,182 332

Total current liabilities 369,020 411,480

LONG-TERM DEBT, less current portion 4,587 5,060
CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less current portion 14,887 6,977
DEFERRED RENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES 33,317 31,813

TOTAL LIABILITIES 421,811 455,330

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock ($0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued) — —
Common stock ($0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 55,727,575 shares 

and 55,014,598 shares issued in 2005 and 2004, respectively) 557 550
Additional paid-in capital 298,699 292,922
Unearned compensation – restricted stock (30) (46)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,048) (1,094)
Treasury stock at cost (25,104,990 and 21,988,949 shares in 2005 and 2004, respectively) (217,564) (186,298)
Retained earnings 298,898 298,289

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 378,512 404,323

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $800,323 $ 859,653

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Fiscal Year Ended
January 28, January 29, January 31,

2006 2005 2004

($ in thousands, except per share amounts)

Sales $1,238,486 $1,365,133 $1,330,626
Cost of sales 806,873 869,999 842,726

Gross profit 431,613 495,134 487,900
Selling, general and administrative expenses 426,854 450,162 459,441

Income from operations 4,759 44,972 28,459
Interest expense 2,954 2,444 2,147
Other income (2,171) (1,039) (718)

Income before income taxes, extraordinary gain – unallocated negative
goodwill and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 3,976 43,567 27,030

Income tax expense 1,090 4,892 8,302

Income before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill
and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 2,886 38,675 18,728

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, net of income
taxes of $1,979 and $2,437 in 2004 and 2003, respectively — 3,166 4,339

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of income taxes
of $1,505 million in 2005 (2,277) — —

NET INCOME $ 609 $ 41,841 $ 23,067

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Earnings per share before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill 

and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 0.09 $ 1.12 $ 0.50
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill — 0.09 0.12
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (0.07) — —

Basic earnings per share $ 0.02 $ 1.21 $ 0.62

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic 31,962 34,531 37,422

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Earnings per share before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill 

and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 0.09 $ 1.06 $ 0.49
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill — 0.09 0.11
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (0.07) — —

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.02 $ 1.15 $ 0.60

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – diluted 32,132 36,297 38,209

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Unearned
Additional Compensation Accum.

Common Stock Paid-in Restricted Treasury Stock Other Retained Shareholders’
Shares Amount Capital Stock Shares Amount Comp. Loss Earnings Equity

($ in thousands)

Balance as of February 1, 2003 54,046 $540 $ 287,402 $(116) (15,105) $(129,103) — $ 233,381 $392,104
Net income — — — — — — — 23,067 23,067
Repurchase of shares of treasury stock — — — — (3,042) (16,952) — — (16,952)
Amortization of unearned compensation – 

restricted stock — — — 93 — — — — 93
Issuance of stock to Directors — — 50 — — — — — 50
Exercise of stock options and related 

tax benefit 200 2 820 — — — — — 822

Balance as of January 31, 2004 54,246 $542 $ 288,272 $ (23) (18,147) $(146,055) — $256,448 $399,184

Net income — — — — — — — 41,841 41,841
Excess of additional minimum pension 

liability over unrecognized prior service 
cost, net of income taxes of $747 — — — — — — $(1,094) — (1,094)

Total comprehensive income 40,747

Repurchase of shares of treasury stock — — — — (3,843) (40,247) — — (40,247)
Issuance of treasury stock under incentive 

stock programs — — 6 — 1 4 — — 10
Amortization of unearned compensation – 

restricted stock — — — 28 — — — — 28
Issuance of restricted stock 5 — 51 (51) — — — — —
Issuance of stock to Directors 12 — 52 — — — — — 52
Exercise of stock options and related 

tax benefit 752 8 4,541 — — — — — 4,549

Balance as of January 29, 2005 55,015 $550 $292,922 $ (46) (21,989) $(186,298) $(1,094) $298,289 $404,323

Net income — — — — — — — 609 609
Excess of additional minimum pension 

liability over unrecognized prior service 
cost, net of income taxes of $741 — — — — — — (954) — (954)

Total comprehensive loss (345)

Repurchase of shares of treasury stock — — — — (3,117) (31,270) — — (31,270)
Issuance of treasury stock under incentive 

stock programs — — 3 — 1 4 — — 7
Amortization of unearned compensation – 

restricted stock — — — 16 — — — — 16
Stock compensation and related tax benefit 713 7 5,774 — — — — — 5,781

Balance as of January 28, 2006 55,728 $ 557 $298,699 $ (30) (25,105) $(217,564) $(2,048) $298,898 $ 378,512

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries

Fiscal Year Ended
January 28, January 29, January 31,

2006 2005 2004

($ in thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 609 $ 41,841 $ 23,067
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets 37,069 39,796 40,539
Amortization of intangible assets 94 47 —
Amortization of lease valuations, net (428) (844) (893)
Stock compensation programs 319 90 143
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 2,538 2,848 2,544
Loss on impairment of fixed assets — — 3,682
Gain on sale of available-for-sale securities (813) — —
Deferred tax expense (benefit) 4,186 6,948 (4,106)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes 2,277 — —
Extraordinary gain on acquisition of businesses, net of income taxes — (3,166) (4,339)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (2,469) 2,980 1,009
Merchandise inventory 28,534 (4,009) 5,275
Prepaid expenses and other 1,067 (104) (1,218)
Other assets 544 (2,777) (353)
Accounts payable (35,565) 52,098 (20,661)
Income taxes receivable/(payable) (7,863) (15,151) 12,479
Accrued expenses and other (2,831) (10,442) 12,849
Deferred rent and other liabilities (2,021) (4,224) (3,134)

Net cash provided by operating activities 25,247 105,931 66,883

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of fixed assets (41,330) (33,398) (16,989)
Acquisition of businesses — (2,000) (37,044)
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities 813 — —

Net cash used by investing activities (40,517) (35,398) (54,033)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from long-term debt — 5,760 —
Proceeds from capital lease obligations 12,877 — —
Payments of long-term debt (444) (252) —
Payments of capital lease obligations (2,117) (551) (1,640)
Payments of debt issue costs (495) — —
Payments for purchases of treasury stock (31,270) (40,247) (16,952)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 4,160 2,603 614

Net cash used by financing activities (17,289) (32,687) (17,978)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (32,559) 37,846 (5,128)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 229,768 191,922 197,050

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $197,209 $229,768 $191,922

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Issuance of stock under incentive stock programs $ 7 $ 10 —
Issuance of restricted shares under restricted stock plan — 51 —
Income tax benefit resulting from exercises of stock options 1,621 1,946 208

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note 1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations: Trans World Entertainment Corporation and
subsidiaries (“the Company”) is one of the largest specialty retailers
of music, video, video games and related products in the United
States. The Company operates a chain of retail entertainment stores
and e-commerce sites, www.fye.com, www.coconuts.com,
www.wherehouse.com and www.secondspin.com, in a single
industry segment. As of January 28, 2006, the Company operated
782 stores totaling approximately 4.8 million square feet in 46 states,
the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the
U.S. Virgin Islands, with a majority of the stores concentrated in 
the eastern half of the United States. The Company’s business is
seasonal in nature, with the peak selling period being the holiday
season in the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter.

Basis of Presentation: The consolidated financial statements consist 
of Trans World Entertainment Corporation, its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Record Town, Inc. (“Record Town”), and Record Town’s subsidiaries,
all of which are wholly-owned. During 2005, the Company acquired 
an 80% interest in a newly-formed company that is fully consolidated
for financial reporting purposes. All significant intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated. Certain amounts in previously
issued consolidated financial statements were reclassified to conform
to 2005 presentation. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Items Affecting Comparability: The Company’s fiscal year is a 52 or 
53-week period ending the Saturday nearest to January 31. Fiscal
2005, 2004 and 2003 ended January 28, 2006, January 29, 2005 
and January 31, 2004, respectively, and each fiscal year consisted 
of 52 weeks.

On February 7, 2005 the Office of the Chief Accountant of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission issued a clarification of their
interpretation of certain accounting issues and their application under
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles relating to operating
leases. After an internal review and discussion with its independent
auditors, the Company determined its then current method of
accounting for allowances provided by landlords to fund leasehold
improvements needed to be revised. Historically, the Company
accounted for these allowances as reductions to the related
leasehold improvements on its Consolidated Balance Sheets and 
as a reduction of related investing activities on its Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows. Management revised its method of
accounting in 2004 for these allowances to record them as deferred
credits (“deferred rent”) on its Consolidated Balance Sheets and as 
a component of operating activities on its Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for detailed discussion.

The Company adopted FASB Interpretation No.(“FIN”) 47, Accounting
for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations – an Interpretation of
FASB Statement No.143, effective January 28, 2006. In accordance

with FIN 47, the Company recorded an asset and a corresponding
liability for the present value of the estimated asset retirement
obligations associated with the fixed assets and leasehold
improvements at its store locations that arise under the terms 
of operating leases. See Note to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for detailed discussion.

Revenue Recognition: The Company’s revenue is primarily from 
retail sales of merchandise inventory. Revenue is recognized at 
the point-of-sale. Internet sales are recognized as revenue upon
delivery to and acceptance by the customer. Loyalty card revenue 
is amortized over the life of the card. Sales are recorded net of
estimated amounts for sales returns and other allowances. Shipping
and handling fee income from the Company’s Internet operations is
recognized as net sales. The Company records shipping and handling
costs in cost of goods sold.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all highly liquid
investments purchased with an original maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable are comprised of receivables
and unbilled revenues from advertising services performed for third
parties, and amounts due under operating or service agreements 
with unaffiliated entities, loans to related business ventures, and
other, individually insignificant amounts. There are no provisions for
uncollectible amounts from retail sales of merchandise inventory
since payment is received at the time of sale.

Cost of Sales: In addition to the cost of product, the Company
includes in cost of sales those costs associated with purchasing,
receiving, shipping, inspecting and warehousing product. Also
included are costs associated with the return of product to vendors.
Cost of sales further includes the cost of inventory shrink and
obsolescence and the benefit of vendor allowances and discounts.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses: Included in
SG&A expenses are payroll and related costs, store operating costs,
occupancy charges, professional and service fees, general operating
and overhead expenses and depreciation charges (excluding those
related to distribution operations, as discussed in Note 4 of Notes 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K). Selling, general and administrative expenses also include
asset impairment charges and write-offs, if any, and miscellaneous
items, other than interest.

Vendor Allowances: The Company often receives allowances from 
its vendors to fund in-store displays, print advertising and other
promotional events. The Company accounts for vendor allowances in
accordance with the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board’s (“FASB’s”) Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue 
No.02-16, Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain
Consideration Received from a Vendor. Vendor advertising allowances
which exceed specific, incremental and identifiable costs incurred in
relation to the advertising and promotions offered by the Company to
its vendors are classified as a reduction in the purchase price of
merchandise inventory.

Lease Accounting: In 2004, the Company revised its method of
accounting for rent expense (and related deferred rent liability) and
leasehold improvements funded by landlord incentives for allowances
under operating leases (tenant improvement allowances) to conform
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to GAAP, as clarified by the Chief Accountant of the SEC in a
February 2005 letter to the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. For all stores, the Company had calculated straight-line
rent expense using the initial lease term, but was generally
depreciating leasehold improvements over the shorter of their
estimated useful lives or the initial lease term plus the option
periods. The Company corrected its calculation of straight-line rent
expense to include the impact of escalating rents for periods in
which it is reasonably assured of exercising lease options and to
include in the lease term any period during which the Company is
not obligated to pay rent while the store is being constructed (“rent
holiday”). The Company also corrected its calculation of depreciation
expense for leasehold improvements for those leases which do 
not include an option period. This resulted in rent expense being
recorded at an earlier date for each lease and reduced future monthly
rent expense, as the total rent due under the lease was recognized
over a greater number of months. The Company accounts for step
rent provisions, escalation clauses and other lease concessions by
recognizing these amounts on a straight-line basis over the initial
lease term. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for further detail. 

Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations: The Company records the
fair value of an asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) as a liability in 
the period in which it incurs a legal obligation associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets that result from the
acquisition, construction, development and/or normal use of the
asset. The Company also records a corresponding asset that is
depreciated over the life of the asset. Subsequent to the initial
measurement of the ARO, the ARO is adjusted at the end of each
period to reflect the passage of time and changes in the estimated
future cash flows underlying the obligation. The Company adopted
FIN 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations – an
Interpretation of FASB Statement No.143, effective January 28, 2006.
In accordance with FIN 47, the Company recorded an asset and a
corresponding liability for the present value of the estimated asset
retirement obligations associated with the fixed assets and leasehold
improvements at its store locations that arise under the terms of
operating leases. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Concentration of Credit Risks: The Company maintains centralized
cash management and investment programs whereby excess cash
balances are invested in short-term money market funds and
instruments considered to be cash equivalents. The Company’s
investment portfolio is diversified and consists of short-term
investment grade securities consistent with its investment
guidelines. These guidelines include the provision that sufficient
liquidity will be maintained to meet anticipated cash flow needs. 
The Company maintains investments with various financial
institutions. These amounts often exceed the FDIC insurance 
limits. The Company limits the amount of credit exposure with any
one financial institution and believes that no significant concentration
of credit risk exists with respect to cash investments.

Concentration of Business Risks: The Company purchases inventory
for its stores from approximately 900 suppliers, with approximately
71% of purchases being made from ten suppliers: EMD (EMI 
Music Distribution), Sony/BMG (Sony-Bertelsmann Music Group),
WEA (Warner/Electra/Atlantic Corp.) UMVD (Universal Music and

Video Distribution), Fox Video, Inc., Paramount Home Video, 
Buena Vista Home Video, Sony Computer Entertainment and Sony
Pictures Home Entertainment. Historically, the Company has not
experienced difficulty in obtaining satisfactory sources of supply, 
and management believes that it will retain access to adequate
sources of supply. However, a loss of a major supplier could cause 
a loss of sales, which would have an adverse effect on operating
results and also result in a decrease in vendor support for the
Company’s advertising programs.

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates: Investments in unconsolidated
affiliates have been recorded on the cost basis, with any decline in
the market value below cost that is deemed other than temporary,
charged to operations. Write-off of investments in unconsolidated
affiliates for other than temporary decline in market value are
reflected in SG&A expenses in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. There were no write-off of investments in
unconsolidated affiliates in 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Merchandise Inventory and Return Costs: Inventory is stated at the
lower of cost or market as determined by the average cost method.
Inventory valuation requires significant judgment and estimates,
including obsolescence, shrink and any adjustments to market 
value, if market value is lower than cost. The Company records
obsolescence and any adjustments to market value (if lower than
cost) based on current and anticipated demand, customer
preferences and market conditions. The provision for inventory 
shrink is estimated as a percentage of sales for the period from 
the last date a physical inventory was performed to the end of the
fiscal year. Such estimates are based on historical results and trends,
and the shrink results from the last physical inventory. Physical
inventories are taken at least annually for all stores throughout 
the year, and inventory records are adjusted accordingly.

The Company is generally entitled to return merchandise purchased
from major vendors for credit against other purchases from these
vendors. Certain vendors reduce the credit with a merchandise
return charge ranging from 0% to 20% of the original merchandise
purchase price depending on the type of merchandise being
returned. Certain other vendors charge a handling fee based on 
units returned. The Company records merchandise return charges 
in cost of sales.

Fixed Assets and Depreciation: Fixed assets are recorded at cost 
and depreciated or amortized over the estimated useful life of the
asset using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives 
are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Lesser of estimated useful life 
of the asset or the lease term

Fixtures and equipment 3-7 years (estimated useful life 
of the asset)

Buildings 30 years

Major improvements and betterments to existing facilities and
equipment are capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs
are expensed as incurred. A majority of the Company’s operating
leases are 10 years in term. Amortization of capital lease assets 
is included in depreciation and amortization expense.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: Long-lived assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to undiscounted
future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset over 
its remaining useful life. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized
by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds
the fair value of the assets. Fair value is generally measured based
on discounted estimated future cash flows. Assets to be disposed 
of would be separately presented in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair 
value less disposition costs. The assets and liabilities of a disposed
group classified as held-for-sale would be presented separately 
in the appropriate assets and liabilities sections of the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

Impairment losses recorded in 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $0, $0
and $3.7 million, respectively. The 2003 amount, which is reflected 
in SG&A expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations,
represents the write-down of the fixed assets of www.fye.com
pursuant to the Company’s decision to outsource the operation of 
its Web site. Losses for store closings in the ordinary course of
business represent the write down of net book value of abandoned
fixtures and leasehold improvements. The loss on disposal of fixed
assets related to store closings was $2.2 million, $2.8 million and
$2.5 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and is included 
in SG&A expenses. Losses due to the write down of fixed assets
related to store closings are included in loss on disposal of fixed
assets in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Store closings
usually occur at the expiration of the lease, at which time leasehold
improvements, which constitute a majority of the abandoned assets,
are fully depreciated. Also, actual store closures usually occur within
three to six months of the planned store closure date. As a result,
changes in depreciation estimates as required by Accounting
Principles Board, Opinion No.20, Accounting Changes (“APB 20”), do
not have a material impact on financial results. 

Advertising Costs: The Company applies the guidance issued by the
FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force, EITF No.02-16, Accounting by 
a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received
from a Vendor. Accordingly, advertising and sales promotion costs
are charged to operations, offset by direct vendor reimbursements,
as incurred. Total advertising expense, excluding vendor allowances,
were $22.0 million, $23.9 million and $21.2 million in 2005, 2004 and
2003 respectively. In the aggregate, vendor allowances supporting
the Company’s advertising and promotion included as a reduction of
SG&A expenses as reimbursements of such costs in accordance
with EITF No.02-16 were $9.6 million, $11.8 million and $12.7 million
in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Store Closing Costs: Management periodically evaluates the closing 
of underperforming stores. Reserves are established at the time 
a liability is incurred for the present value of any remaining lease
obligations, net of estimated sublease income and other exit costs,
as prescribed by SFAS No.146, Accounting for Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal Activities.

Gift Cards: The Company offers gift cards for sale. A deferred income
account, which is included in accrued expenses and other in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, is established for gift cards issued.
When gift cards are redeemed at the store level, revenue is recorded
and the related liability is reduced. Breakage is estimated based on
the historical relationship of the redemption of gift cards redeemed
to gift cards sold, over a certain period of time. The Company has the
ability to reasonably and reliably estimate gift card liability based on
historical experience with redemption rates associated with a large
volume of homogeneous transactions, from a period of more than
ten years. The Company’s estimate is not susceptible to significant
external factors and the circumstances around purchases and
redemptions have not changed significantly over time. The Company
recorded breakage on its gift cards for 2005, 2004 and 2003 in the
amount of $2.9 million, $4.7 million and $3.5 million, respectively.

Income Taxes: Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and
liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized 
for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases, and tax operating loss
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in 
the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities
of a change in tax rates is recognized in the results of operations in
the period that includes the enactment date. Deferred tax assets 
are subject to valuation allowances based upon management’s
estimates of realizability.

Comprehensive Income (Loss): The Company accounts for
comprehensive income (loss) in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No.130, Reporting
Comprehensive Income and results are presented within the
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and 
Comprehensive Income (Loss). Comprehensive loss for 2005
consisted of net income and the excess additional minimum pension
liability over unrecognized prior service cost. Comprehensive income
for 2004 consisted of net income and the excess additional minimum
pension liability over unrecognized prior service cost. In 2003, the
Company did not have other items of comprehensive income as
defined by SFAS No.130, and accordingly, comprehensive income
was equal to net income.

Stock-Based Compensation: The Company applies the intrinsic 
value-based method of accounting prescribed by Accounting
Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No.25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees, and related interpretations including 
FASB Interpretation No.44, Accounting for Certain Transactions
Involving Stock Compensation – An Interpretation of APB No.25,
in accounting for its fixed plan stock options. Under this method,
compensation expense is recorded on the date of grant only if the
current market price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise
price. Unearned compensation recognized for restricted stock
awards is shown as a separate component of shareholders’ equity
and is amortized to expense over the vesting period of the stock
award using the straight-line method. SFAS No.123, Accounting 
for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS No.148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and
Disclosure, established accounting and disclosure requirements
using a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based
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employee compensation plans. As allowed by SFAS No.123, the
Company has elected to continue to apply the intrinsic value-based
method of accounting described above, and adopted the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No.123 and SFAS No.148. The Company 
will adopt the expense recognition provisions of SFAS 123(R),
beginning with the first quarter of its 2006 fiscal year that 
began on January 29, 2006.

In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors
approved the acceleration of vesting of previously granted unvested
options awarded annually to employees and officers under the
Company’s Stock Option Plans which had exercise prices greater
than $10.00 per share.

Options to purchase 2,273,057 shares of the Company’s common
stock, representing approximately 24% of the total options
outstanding, became immediately vested and exercisable as a 
result of this action. The number of shares and exercise prices of 
the options subject to the acceleration remained unchanged. Also, 
all of the other terms of the options remain the same. Based upon an
analysis performed in accordance with SFAS No.123, the acceleration
of vesting of these stock options resulted in compensation expense
of $5.9 million, in the pro forma net income (loss) results. The
decision to accelerate vesting of these stock options was made
primarily to avoid recognizing compensation expense in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations in future financial statements
upon the adoption of SFAS No.123(R), Share-Based Payment, which
the Company adopted on January 29, 2006. The acceleration of the
vesting of these stock options will reduce the amounts recognized
by the Company as share-based compensation expense, net of
income taxes, by approximately $2.4 million in 2006, $1.9 million in
2007, $1.2 million in 2008 and $0.4 million in 2009. The accelerated
options included 1,355,000 options held by executive officers and
918,057 options held by other employees. Based on the Company’s
closing stock price of $6.25 per share on the date of accelerated
vesting, the exercise prices of all of the options were above the
closing market price.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and
earnings (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No.123 to stock-based employee
compensation for 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

($ in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net income, as reported $ 609 $41,841 $23,067
Add: Stock-based employee 

compensation expense included 
in reported net income, 
net of related tax effects 180 159 93

Deduct: Total stock-based 
employee compensation expense 
determined under fair value 
based method for all awards, 
net of related tax effects (7,521) (2,919) (3,347)

Pro forma net income (loss) $(6,732) $39,081 $ 19,813

Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic – as reported $ 0.02 $ 1.21 $ 0.62
Basic – pro forma $ (0.21) $ 1.13 $ 0.53
Diluted – as reported $ 0.02 $ 1.15 $ 0.60
Diluted – pro forma $ (0.21) $ 1.08 $ 0.52

The fair values of the options granted have been estimated at the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions:

Stock Option Plan
2005 2004 2003

Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 55% 57% 59%
Risk-free interest rate 3.71%-4.34% 3.71% 3.16%
Expected option life in years 5-6.25 5 5
Weighted average fair value 

per share of options 
granted during the year $6.59 $3.49 $1.16

Earnings (Loss) Per Share: Basic earnings (loss) per share is 
calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average
common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per
share is calculated by dividing net income by the sum of the
weighted average shares outstanding and additional common 
shares that would have been outstanding if the dilutive potential
common shares had been issued for the Company’s common 
stock options from the Company’s Stock Option Plans. See 
Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following is a reconciliation of the basic weighted average
number of shares outstanding to the diluted weighted average
number of shares outstanding:

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

(in thousands)

Weighted average common 
shares outstanding – basic 31,962 34,531 37,422

Dilutive effect of employee 
stock options 170 1,766 787

Weighted average common 
shares outstanding – diluted 32,132 36,297 38,209

Antidilutive stock options 4,756 1,631 5,322

Antidilutive stock options outstanding were excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise price
of the options was greater than the average market price of the
common shares during the period.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: The carrying amounts reported in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and other current liabilities
approximate fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity
of these financial instruments. The carrying value of life insurance
policies included in other assets approximates fair value based on
estimates received from insurance companies. The carrying value of
the Company’s long-term debt including current portion, approximates
fair value based on estimated discounted future cash flows for
remaining maturities and rates currently offered to the Company 
for similar debt instruments. The Company had outstanding product
import letters of credit with a fair value of $0.3 million and $3.5 million
as of January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005 respectively.
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Segment Information: The Company has one reportable segment and,
in accordance with the requirements of SFAS No.131, Disclosures
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, the
following table shows revenues by merchandise category:

Fiscal Year
January 28, January 29, January 31,

2005 2004 2003

($ in thousands)

Music:
Compact discs $ 655,806 $ 736,149 $ 717,145
Audio cassettes and singles 7,906 14,463 23,819

Total Music 663,712 750,612 740,964

Video:
DVD 352,184 360,262 313,977
VHS 19,781 37,781 60,891

Total Video 371,965 398,043 374,868

Video games 90,408 89,297 80,888
Other 112,401 127,181 133,906

Total $1,238,486 $1,365,133 $1,330,626

The “Other” category includes electronics, accessories, boutique
and other sales, none of which individually exceeds 5%.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No.155, Accounting for
Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments – an Amendment of FASB
Statements No.133 and 140, to simplify and make more consistent
the accounting for certain financial instruments. Specifically, SFAS 
No.155 amends SFAS No.133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities, to permit fair value remeasurement for any
hybrid financial instrument with an embedded derivative that
otherwise would require bifurcation, provided that the whole
instrument is accounted for on a fair value basis. SFAS No.155
amends SFAS No.140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities, to allow a
qualifying special-purpose entity to hold a derivative financial
instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another
derivative financial instrument. SFAS No.155 applies to all financial
instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity’s 
first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006, with earlier
application allowed. The adoption of SFAS No.155 is not expected to
have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
position or results of operations.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No.154, Accounting Changes
and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No.20,
Accounting Changes and FASB Statement No.3, Reporting
Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. SFAS No.154
provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting
changes and error corrections. It establishes, unless impracticable,
retrospective application as the required method for reporting a
change in accounting principle in the absence of explicit transition
requirements specific to the newly adopted accounting principle.
SFAS No.154 also provides guidance for determining whether
retrospective application of a change in accounting principle is
impracticable and for reporting a change when retrospective

application is impracticable. The provisions of SFAS No.154 are
effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made 
in fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The adoption 
of the provisions of SFAS No.154 is not expected to have a 
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial condition 
or results of operations.

In June 2005, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued 
EITF No.05-6, Determining the Amortization Period of Leasehold
Improvements (Purchased After Lease Inception) or Acquired in a
Business Combination (“EITF 05-6”). EITF No.05-6 provides that the
amortization period for leasehold improvements acquired in a
business combination or purchased after the inception of a lease 
be the shorter of (a) the useful life of the assets or (b) a term that
includes required lease periods and renewals that are reasonably
assured upon the acquisition of the purchase. The provisions of 
EITF No.05-6 are effective on a prospective basis for leasehold
improvements purchased or acquired beginning July 1, 2005. 
The adoption of EITF No.05-6 did not have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No.123(R), Share-Based
Payment: an Amendment of FASB Statements No.123 and 95.
SFAS No.123(R) requires an enterprise to measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an award of equity
instruments based on the fair value of the award at the grant date
(with limited exceptions) and recognize the compensation cost over
the period during which an employee is required to provide service 
in exchange for the award. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin No.107 (“SAB 107”), which expresses views 
of the SEC staff regarding the application of SFAS No.123(R). Among
other things, SAB 107 provides interpretive guidance related to the
interaction between SFAS No.123(R) and certain SEC rules and
regulations, and provides the SEC staff’s views regarding the valuation
of share-based payment arrangements for public companies. In
February 2006, the FASB published FASB Staff Position FAS
No.123(R)-4 (“FSP No.123(R)-4”), Classification of Options and
Similar Instruments Issued as Employee Compensation that Allow
for Cash Settlement Upon the Occurrence of a Contingent Event,
to amend guidance in SFAS No.123(R), Share-Based Payment, on
classifying options and similar instruments issued as part of employee
compensation arrangements. As amended, SFAS No.123(R) requires
options issued as compensation to employees to be classified as
liabilities if the cash settlement feature can be exercised only upon
the occurrence of a contingent event that is outside the employee’s
control, and such event is deemed probable to occur. The Company
will adopt the expense recognition provisions of SFAS No.123(R),
beginning with the first quarter of its 2006 fiscal year. If the
Company had applied the provisions of SFAS No.123(R) to the
financial statements for the period ending January 28, 2006, 
net loss would have been greater by approximately $7.3 million 
or $(0.23) per share.

Note 2. Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle

The Company adopted FIN 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations – an Interpretation of FASB Statement 
No.143, effective January 28, 2006. In accordance with FIN 47, 
the Company recorded an asset and a corresponding liability for 
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the present value of the estimated asset retirement obligations
associated with the fixed assets and leasehold improvements at 
its store locations that arise under the terms of operating leases.

The following table illustrates the effect on income before
extraordinary gain, net income and related per share amounts as if
the Company had applied the provisions of FIN 47 retroactively:
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Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Income before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and 
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, as reported $2,886 $ 38,675 $ 18,728

Pro forma income before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill 
and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $2,922 $38,946 $ 18,533

Net income as reported $609 $ 41,841 $23,067
Pro forma net income $ 2,922 $ 42,112 $22,872

Pro forma liability $ 4,327 $ 4,408 $ 4,716

Basic earnings per share:
Income before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and 

cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, per share as reported $ 0.09 $ 1.12 $ 0.50
Pro forma income per share before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative 

goodwill and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 0.09 $ 1.13 $ 0.50

Net income per share as reported $ 0.02 $ 1.21 $ 0.62
Pro forma net income per share $ 0.09 $ 1.22 $ 0.61

Diluted earnings per share:
Income before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill and 

cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, per share as reported $ 0.09 $ 1.06 $ 0.49
Pro forma income per share before extraordinary gain – unallocated 

negative goodwill and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 0.09 $ 1.07 $ 0.49

Net income per share as reported $ 0.02 $ 1.15 $ 0.60
Pro forma net income per share $ 0.09 $ 1.16 $ 0.60

Note 3. Business Combinations

During 2005, the Company acquired an 80% interest in a newly
formed company that is fully consolidated for financial reporting
purposes. The Company has committed funding of $3.0 million over
a period of three years, of which $1.0 million had been funded as 
of January 28, 2006.

On July 22, 2004, the Company acquired the remaining 29% of 
the issued and outstanding shares of Second Spin Inc., for cash 
of $2.0 million. The Company now owns 100% of the issued and
outstanding shares of Second Spin Inc. In accordance with SFAS
No.141, Business Combinations, the transaction was accounted for
as a step acquisition with the excess of purchase price over the fair
value reported as goodwill. The Company recorded goodwill of
$62,000 related to this transaction. Prior to the step acquisition, 
the Company had consolidated all of the net assets and operations
of Second Spin Inc. in its Consolidated Balance Sheets and
Consolidated Statements of Operations due to Second Spin’s
accumulated operating losses, and accordingly no minority interest
had been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

In October 2003, the Company acquired substantially all the net
assets of Wherehouse Entertainment Inc. (“Wherehouse”) and 
CD World Inc. (“CD World”) for $35.2 million and $1.9 million,
respectively. The purchase price was allocated on a preliminary basis
during 2003 using information available at the time. Extraordinary gain
recorded in 2003 was $4.3 million, which is net of income taxes of
$2.4 million, related to unallocated negative goodwill. The gain
represents the excess of the fair value of net assets acquired in
excess of the purchase price of the assets. In accordance with 
SFAS No.141, the allocation of the purchase price to the assets and
liabilities acquired was finalized and adjusted during 2004, resulting
in an extraordinary gain of $3.2 million, which is net of income 
taxes of $2.0 million, related to unallocated negative goodwill. The
extraordinary gain in 2004 represents adjustments to the value of
liquidated inventory ($2.5 million), an adjustment to customer liabilities
related to gift cards based on the redemption experience since
acquisition ($2.1 million) and occupancy related expenses ($0.6 million).
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Note 4. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets consist of the following:

January 28, January 29,
2006 2005

($ in thousands)

Buildings $ 26,275 $ 26,275
Fixtures and equipment 196,296 198,396
Leasehold improvements 159,707 139,283

382,278 363,954
Allowances for depreciation 

and amortization (249,814) (233,758)

$132,464 $130,196

Depreciation and amortization expense related to the Company’s
distribution center facility and equipment of $3.1 million, $2.5 million
and $2.4 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, is included in
cost of sales. All other depreciation and amortization of fixed assets
is included in SG&A expenses.

Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets is included in the
consolidated statements of operations as follows:

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

($ in thousands)

Cost of sales $ 3,076 $ 2,466 $ 2,405
Selling, general and 

administrative expenses $33,993 $ 37,330 $ 38,134

Total $37,069 $39,796 $40,539

On February 7, 2005, the Office of the Chief Accountant of the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission issued a clarification of
their interpretation of certain accounting issues and their application
under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles relating to
operating leases. After an internal review and discussion with its
independent auditors, the Company determined its then current
method of accounting for allowances provided by landlords to fund
leasehold improvements needed to be revised. Historically, the
Company had accounted for these allowances as reductions to the
related leasehold improvements on its Consolidated Balance Sheets
and as a reduction of related investing activities on its Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows. In 2004, Management revised its
method of accounting for these allowances to record them as
deferred rent on its Consolidated Balance Sheets which were
amortized as a reduction in rent expense over the life of the 
related leases. This resulted in rent expense being recorded at an
earlier date for each lease and reduced future monthly rent expense,
as the total rent due under the lease was recognized over a greater
number of months.

The net, unamortized allowances recorded in the January 29, 2005
Consolidated Balance Sheets was $12.4 million, of which 
$10.0 million was reflected under deferred rent and other long-term
liabilities and the remaining amounts were included in accrued
expenses and other. The cumulative adjustment to the Consolidated
Statements of Operations for 2004 as result of the revision was 

to decrease net income by approximately $0.2 million. The revision 
did not, however, affect the classification of the amortization of 
these allowances in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In 2004, during the Company’s review of its accounting for
allowances, described above, it came to light there were certain
leasehold improvements recorded with useful lives exceeding 
the related remaining lease terms of the respective stores. The
Company’s policy with respect to leasehold improvements is to
compute depreciation expense based on the shorter of the useful
life of the asset or its related store lease term. The cumulative
adjustment to the Consolidated Statements of Operations for 
2004 as result of the revision was to decrease net income by 
$0.5 million.

No adjustment was made to prior periods for the revision to the
accounting for allowances or the adjustment to depreciation on
leasehold improvements, as management considered these items 
to be immaterial to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
These items, individually or together, did not change previously
reported earnings per share in prior years by more than $0.02, 
did not change previously reported total assets or liabilities by more 
than 4.0% and did not change reported net cash provided by 
(used in) operating activities or net cash used by investing 
activities by more than $1.7 million.

Note 5. Debt

On January 5, 2006, the Company entered into a new five year, 
$100 million revolving secured credit facility agreement (“Credit
Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. At the election of the
Company, loans under the Credit Agreement bear interest on the
principal amount at a rate equal to either, the Prime Rate or Adjusted
LIBOR plus 0.75%. The principal amount of the all outstanding loans
under the Credit Agreement together with any accrued but unpaid
interest, are due and payable on January 6, 2010, unless otherwise
paid earlier pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement.
Payments of amounts due under the Credit Agreement are secured
by the Company’s eligible inventory, proceeds from sale of inventory
and the stock of the Company’s subsidiaries.

The new Credit Agreement replaces the Company’s previous 
Credit Agreement and will provide for general corporate purposes.
The Credit Agreement includes customary provisions, including
affirmative and negative covenants, including representations,
warranties and restrictions on additional indebtedness and
acquisitions. The Credit Agreement also includes customary events
of default, including, among other things, bankruptcy and certain
changes of control.

Prior to the new credit agreement the Company had a three year,
$100 million secured revolving credit facility with Congress Financial
Corporation that would have expired in July 2006.

Subsequent to January 28, 2006, the Company entered into a First
Amendment of the Credit Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. on
March 26, 2006, which increases the maximum amount available for
borrowing under the revolving secured credit facility to $130 million.

During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the highest aggregate balances
outstanding under the revolving credit facility were $27.2 million,
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$28.0 million and $58.3 million, respectively. As of January 28, 2006
and January 29, 2005, the Company had $0.5 million and $0.3 million,
respectively, in outstanding letter of credit obligations under the
credit agreements with Bank of America, N.A. and Congress 
Financial Corporation, respectively. The Company had $99.5 million
and $99.7 million, respectively, available for borrowing as of 
January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005.

During 2004, the Company borrowed $5.8 million under a mortgage
loan to finance the purchase of real estate. The mortgage loan is
repayable in monthly installments of $64,000 over 10 years with 
a fixed interest rate of 6.0% and is collateralized by the real estate. 
The mortgage loan contains a minimum net worth (shareholders’
equity) covenant of $290 million, excluding the impact, if any, of
certain non-cash charges. As of January 28, 2006, the outstanding
balance on the loan was $5.1 million. The following table presents
principal cash payments of long-term debt by expected maturity
dates as of January 28, 2006:

Long-Term debt

($ in thousands)

2006 477
2007 506
2008 537
2009 570
2010 606
Thereafter 2,368

Total 5,064
Less: current portion 477

Long-term debt obligation $4,587

Note 6. Income Taxes

Income tax expense consists of the following:

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

($ in thousands)

Federal – current $(3,887) $(3,969) $10,044
State – current 791 1,913 2,364
Deferred 4,186 6,948 (4,106)

$ 1,090 $ 4,892 $ 8,302

A reconciliation of the Company’s effective income tax rate with the
Federal statutory rate is as follows:

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, 

net of federal tax effect 52.2% 2.1% 3.5%
Change in federal valuation 

allowance (5.9)% (2.1)% (0.4)%
Closing of federal tax examination — (24.2)% —
Corporate-owned life insurance 

payment settlement, net 5.9% 0.5% (7.4)%
Cash surrender value – 

insurance/benefit programs (4.2)% (0.2)% (0.8)%
Executive compensation 3.3% 0.4% 0.4%
Tax exempt income (3.2)% (0.3)% (0.2)%
Closing of tax periods (8.8)% — —
Tax credits (7.8)% (0.2)% (0.3)%
Recognized deferred tax asset (43.3)% — —
Other 4.2% 0.2% 0.9%

Effective income tax rate 27.4% 11.2% 30.7%

During 2004, the Company closed a federal tax examination for
periods through the Company’s 2000 fiscal year. The settlement
closed all outstanding matters related to corporate-owned life
insurance policies which were part of the Company’s acquisition 
of CM Holdings Inc. (“Camelot”) in 1999. As a result of the closing
agreement with the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), the Company
recorded a tax benefit of $10.5 million, which reversed federal
income tax payable amounts originally recorded in the years covered
by the examination. The closing of the federal tax examination 
further resulted in the recording of a state deferred tax benefit, 
net of federal tax effect of $0.9 million in 2004, attributable to state
net operating loss carryforwards from Camelot. The amounts and
utilization of these state net operating loss carryforwards had been
uncertain until the closing of the federal tax examination in 2004.
During 2005, the Company recognized a tax benefit of $2.0 million
attributable to the effect of additional deductible temporary differences.

During 2000, the United States District Court for the District of
Delaware issued an opinion upholding the IRS’ disallowance of
deductions of interest expense related to corporate-owned life
insurance policies through fiscal 1994. The original accrual for
additional income taxes resulting from disallowed interest expense
deductions was recorded following the 2000 court decision. During
2003, the Company and the IRS agreed on final computational and
payment terms for an amount less than previously accrued, which
resulted in an income tax benefit of $2.1 million in 2003. Under the
final payment terms, the Company has agreed with the IRS to make
annual interest payments and a final principal payment of approximately
$7.1 million in 2007. The remaining accrued liabilities attributable 
to this matter as of January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005 were 
$8.7 million which are included in deferred rent and other 
long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets 
are as follows:

January 28, January 29,
2006 2005

($ in thousands)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Accrued expenses $ 1,031 $ 1,101
Accounts receivable 40 121
Inventory 2,308 4,707
Retirement and compensation 

related accruals 5,490 5,601
Fixed assets 2,537 —
Federal and state net operating loss 

and credit carryforwards 14,690 14,700
Real estate leases, including deferred rent 12,511 11,764
Losses on investments 3,714 4,000
Goodwill 7,264 7,897
Other 542 354

Gross deferred tax assets before 
valuation allowance 50,127 50,245

Less: valuation allowance (11,350) (8,763)

Total deferred tax assets $38,777 $41,482

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Fixed assets — 726

Total deferred tax liabilities — 726

NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET $38,777 $40,756

The net deferred tax asset is classified on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

January 28, January 29,
2006 2005

($ in thousands)

Current deferred tax asset $11,266 $ 15,526
Non-current deferred tax asset, net 27,511 25,230

$38,777 $40,756

The net deferred tax asset as of January 28, 2006, reflects the 
tax effect ($1.5 million) of the cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle (see Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements) and the tax effect ($0.04 million) of the
reduction of a deductible temporary difference related to restricted
stock that was charged to Additional Paid In Capital.

As disclosed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the
Company acquired the remaining 29% interest in Second Spin, Inc.
(“Second Spin”) during 2004. In connection with this step acquisition
transaction, deferred tax assets amounting to $1.4 million were
recorded at the date of the acquisition related to the tax effects of
Second Spin’s federal and state net operating loss carryforwards 
and other deductible temporary differences. Prior to this acquisition,
a valuation allowance in the amount of the gross deferred tax asset
had been recorded as management considered it more likely than
not that the net operating loss carryforwards would not be realized

by Second Spin as a separate entity. Second Spin has been merged
into the Company and inclusion in the Company’s consolidated tax
return will enable substantially all of these net operating loss
carryforwards to be utilized within the expiration periods.

The Company had a net operating loss carryforward of $6.5 million
for federal income tax purposes and $203.2 million for state income
tax purposes as of the end of 2005 that expire at various times
through 2025 and are subject to certain limitations and statutory
expiration periods. The state net operating loss carryforwards are
subject to various business apportionment factors and multiple
jurisdictional requirements when utilized.

In addition, the Company has capital loss carryforwards of 
$6.4 million for federal income tax purposes which expire in 2007. 
A 100% valuation allowance has been established against the
deferred tax asset related to these capital loss carryforwards.

In assessing the propriety of deferred tax assets, management
considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion 
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation
of future taxable income. Management considers the scheduled
reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income
and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon
the level of projected future taxable income over the periods in
which the deferred tax assets are deductible, and tax planning
strategies, the valuation allowance was increased from $8.8 million
to $11.4 million, a level where management believes that it is more
likely than not that the tax benefit will be realized. The net increase 
in the valuation allowance included a $2.8 million increase reflected
as state income taxes, net of federal tax effect, offset by a 
$0.2 million decrease to account for the reduction in deferred 
tax asset attributable to losses on investments resulting from an
investment gain. The valuation allowance increase principally relates
to deferred tax assets attributable to state net operating losses and
other deductible temporary differences impacted by lower future
taxable income projections in certain states’ expiration periods and
by changes in legislation, notably Ohio tax reform legislation enacted
during 2005. The Ohio legislation phases out the state corporate
franchise tax, and, based on management’s estimates, certain Ohio
deferred tax assets, principally net operating losses, will not be
realized during the phase-out period.

The Company paid income taxes, net of refunds, of approximately
$4.7 million, $12.5 million and $2.9 million during 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies

During 2000, the United States District Court for the District of
Delaware issued an opinion upholding the IRS’ disallowance of
deductions of interest expense related to corporate-owned life
insurance policies through fiscal 1994. The original accrual for
additional income taxes resulting from disallowed interest expense
deductions was recorded following the 2000 court decision. During
2003, the Company and the IRS agreed on final computational and
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payment terms for an amount less than previously accrued, which
resulted in an income tax benefit of $2.1 million in 2003. Under 
the final payment terms, the Company has agreed with the IRS 
to make annual interest payments and a final principal payment of
approximately $7.1 million in 2007. The remaining accrued liabilities
attributable to this matter as of January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005
were $8.7 million which are included in deferred rent and other 
long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During 2005, the Company acquired an 80% interest in a newly
formed company that is fully consolidated for financial reporting
purposes. The Company has committed funding of $3.0 million 
over a period of three years, of which $1.0 million was funded as 
of January 28, 2006.

The Company is subject to other legal proceedings and claims that
have arisen in the ordinary course of its business and have not been
finally adjudicated. Although there can be no assurance as to the
ultimate disposition of these matters, it is management’s opinion,
based upon the information available at this time, that the expected
outcome of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not
have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and
financial condition of the Company.

Note 8. Leases

As more fully discussed in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company leases its Albany, NY distribution center
and administrative offices under three capital lease arrangements
with its Chief Executive Officer and largest shareholder.

Fixed assets recorded under capital leases, which are included in
fixed assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, 
are as follows:

January 28, January 29,
2006 2005

($ in thousands)

Buildings $ 9,342 $ 9,342
Fixtures and equipment 12,824 —

22,166 9,342
Allowances for depreciation

and amortization (7,170) (4,938)

$14,996 $4,404

The Company leases 781 stores under operating leases, many 
of which contain renewal options, for periods ranging from five to
twenty-five years. Most leases also provide for payment of operating
expenses and real estate taxes. Some also provide for additional
rent, based on a percentage of sales.

Net rental expense was as follows:

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

($ in thousands)

Minimum rentals $ 108,581 $ 115,422 $118,392
Contingent rentals 1,226 1,372 1,279

$109,807 $116,794 $119,671

Future minimum rental payments required under all leases that have
initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year
at January 28, 2006 are as follows:

Operating Capital
Leases Leases

($ in thousands)

2006 101,583 5,195
2007 87,279 4,830
2008 69,412 4,709
2009 50,407 4,709
2010 32,966 2,709
Thereafter 50,596 9,356

Total minimum payments required $392,243 $31,508

Less: amounts representing interest 13,439

Present value of minimum lease payments 18,069
Less: current portion 3,182

Long-term capital lease obligations $14,887 

Interest rates on capital leases were between 5.65% to 27% 
per annum.

During 2005, the Company financed the replacement of its point-of-
sale system through a capital lease arrangement in the amount of
$12.0 million. The lease arrangement has an average interest rate of
5.76% and will be repaid in monthly installments of $229,000 over 
5 years. As of January 28, 2006, the outstanding balance on the
lease was $10.4 million.

During 2005, the Company purchased software licenses through a
capital lease arrangement for $0.9 million, with an interest rate of
5.75%. The capital lease will be repaid in quarterly installments of
$122,000 over 2 years. As of January 28, 2006, the outstanding
balance on the lease was $0.5 million.

Note 9. Benefit Plans

401(k) Savings Plan
The Company offers a 401(k) Savings Plan to eligible employees
meeting certain age and service requirements. This plan permits
participants to contribute up to 20% of their salary, including bonuses,
up to the maximum allowable by IRS regulations. Participants are
immediately vested in their voluntary contributions plus actual earnings
thereon. Participant vesting of the Company’s matching and profit
sharing contribution is based on the years of service completed by the
participant. Participants are fully vested upon the completion of four
years of service. All participant forfeitures of non-vested benefits are
used to reduce the Company’s contributions in future years. Total
expense related to the Plan was $957,000, $897,000 and $858,000 
in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Stock Option Plans
The Company has six employee stock option plans, the 1986 Stock
Option Plan, the 1994 Stock Option Plan, the 1998 Stock Option
Plan, the 1999 Stock Option Plan and the 2002 Stock Option Plan
(the “Old Plans”); and the 2005 Long Term Incentive Share Plan 
(the “New Plan”). The Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors may grant options to acquire shares of common stock
to employees of the Company at the fair market value of the
common stock on the date of grant. Under the New and Old Plans,
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options generally become exercisable commencing one year from
the date of grant in increments of 25% per year with a maximum
term of 10 years. The Company has stopped issuing stock options
under the Old Plans.

Options authorized for issuance under the Old and New Plans
totaled 19.8 million. As of January 28, 2006, of the options
authorized for issuance under the Old and New Plans, 9.5 million
were granted and are outstanding, 7.1 million of which were 
vested and exercisable. Options available for future grants at 
January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005 were 4.7 million and 
1.6 million, respectively.

Under the terms of the Camelot merger agreement, all options
issued under the Camelot 1998 Stock Option Plan (the “Camelot
Plan”) were converted to the Company’s options. The Camelot Plan

provided for the granting of either incentive stock options or
nonqualified stock options to purchase shares of the Company’s
common stock. Vesting of the options was originally over a four-year
period with a maximum term of ten years. Based on the terms of
the Camelot Plan, vesting was accelerated based on the market
performance of the Company’s common stock, whereby 50% of the
options vested on March 13, 1998. The remaining 50% vested on
April 22, 1999 in connection with the merger. At January 28, 2006,
16,950 options were outstanding and exercisable. The Company
stopped issuing stock options under the Camelot Stock Option Plan
as of April 22, 1999.

The following table summarizes information about the stock 
options outstanding under the Plans and the Camelot Plan as 
of January 28, 2006:

Outstanding Exercisable

Exercise Average Weighted Average Aggregate Weighted Average Aggregate
Price Range Shares Remaining Life Exercise Price Intrinsic Price Shares Exercise Price Intrinsic Price

$0.00-$2.66 94,577 0.3 $ 1.58 $ 325,345 94,577 $ 1.58 $ 325,345
2.67-5.33 2,219,973 6.9 3.52 3,329,960 684,698 3.57 992,812
5.34-8.00 427,500 8.7 7.21 — 32,500 7.39 —

8.01-10.00 2,008,371 5.8 8.43 — 1,499,097 8.57 —
10.01-13.33 3,124,500 5.0 10.90 — 3,110,250 10.90 —
13.34-16.00 1,466,565 7.6 14.56 — 1,466,565 14.56 —
16.01-18.67 178,050 2.2 17.79 — 178,050 17.79 —
18.68-24.00 2,000 2.9 23.75 — 2,000 23.75 —

Total 9,521,536 6.1 $9.10 $3,655,305 7,067,737 $10.49 $1,318,157

The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the
total pre-tax intrinsic value based on the Company’s closing stock
price of $5.02 as of January 28, 2006, which would have been
received by the option holders had all option holders under the 
Plans and Camelot Plans exercised their options as of that date. 
The total number of in-the-money options exercisable as of 
January 28, 2006 was 779,275.

The Company also has a stock option plan for non-employee
directors (the “1990 Plan”). Options under this plan are granted 
at an exercise price determined by the Compensation Committee 
of the Board of Directors. Under the 1990 Plan, options generally
become exercisable commencing one year from the date of grant in
increments of 25% per year with a maximum term of 10 years. In
addition, directors of the Company receive annual grants of deferred
shares of Common Stock (“Deferred Shares”) issued under this plan

which vest equally in three years from date of grant. As of January
28, 2006, there were 750,000 options authorized for issuance and
333,526 options have been granted and are outstanding, 140,014 
of which were vested and exercisable. There are 118,480 shares 
of common stock reserved for possible future option grants 
under the 1990 Plan.

In connection with the Company’s merger with Camelot in April 1999
all options issued under the Camelot Outside Director Stock Option
Plan (the “Camelot Director Plan”) were converted to the Company’s
options. As of January 28, 2006, there were 4,750 options
outstanding and exercisable under the Camelot Director Plan. The
Company no longer issues options under the Camelot Director Plan.

The following table summarizes information about the stock options
outstanding under the two Director Plans at January 28, 2006:

Outstanding Exercisable

Exercise Average Weighted Average Aggregate Weighted Average Aggregate
Price Range Shares Remaining Life Exercise Price Intrinsic Price Shares Exercise Price Intrinsic Price

$0.00-$2.67 179,401 7.9 $0.03 $ 895,211 18,389 $0.33 $86,244
2.68-5.33 4,500 1.3 3.36 7,470 4,500 3.36 7,470
5.34-8.00 30,000 7.8 6.44 — 15,000 6.44 —
8.01-10.67 76,875 2.5 9.39 — 74,375 9.44 —
10.68-13.33 40,750 5.3 12.41 — 25,750 11.90 —
13.34-16.00 6,750 1.6 15.12 — 6,750 15.12 —

Total 338,276 6.2 $4.56 $902,681 144,764 $8.48 $ 93,714



The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the
total pre-tax intrinsic value based on the Company’s closing stock
price of $5.02 as of January 28, 2006, which would have been
received by the option holders had all option holders under the 

two Director Plans exercised their options as of that date. The total
number of in-the-money options exercisable as of January 28, 2006
was 22,889.

The following tables summarize activity under the Stock Option Plans:
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Employee Stock Option Plans Director Stock Option Plans

Number of Option Weighted Number of Option Weighted
Shares Subject Price Range Average Shares Subject Price Range Average

To Option Per Share Exercise Price To Option Per Share Exercise Price

Balance February 1, 2003 6,621,924 $1.21-$23.75 $ 9.11 278,750 $ 1.18-$15.12 $6.19
Granted 2,350,100 2.57-5.99 3.50 187,107 0.00-6.44 1.44
Exercised (162,457) 1.21-4.58 3.62 (36,786) 0.00-2.09 1.28
Canceled (363,176) 2.57-18.00 9.24 (9,000) 4.61-4.61 4.61

Balance January 31, 2004 8,446,391 $1.21-$23.75 $7.63 420,071 $0.00-$15.12 $4.98
Granted 1,299,250 7.50-10.31 10.30 62,080 0.00-0.00 0.00
Exercised (706,614) 1.21-10.92 3.54 (57,145) 0.00-10.94 2.93
Canceled (135,826) 2.66-17.79 8.02 (30,111) 0.00-8.95 0.52

Balance January 29, 2005 8,903,201 $1.21-$23.75 $8.34 394,895 $0.00-$15.12 $ 4.17
Granted 1,371,725 7.10-14.32 12.74 48,516 0.00-13.28 4.11
Exercised (634,977) 1.21-12.44 6.17 (78,000) 1.18-3.68 3.12
Canceled (118,413) 3.50-17.79 10.31 (27,135) 0.00-15.12 2.15

Balance January 28, 2006 9,521,536 $1.58-$23.75 $9.10 338,276 $0.00-$15.12 $ 4.56

During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company recognized expenses of
$296,000, $218,000 and $50,000, respectively, for stock options
issued to non-employee directors at an exercise price below the
closing stock price on the date of grant.

Restricted Stock Plan
Under the 1990 Restricted Stock Plan, the Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors is authorized to grant awards for up to
900,000 restricted shares of Common Stock to executive officers
and other key employees of the Company. The shares are issued as
restricted stock and are held in the custody of the Company until all
vesting restrictions are satisfied. If conditions or terms under which
an award is granted are not satisfied, the shares are forfeited. Shares
vest under these grants over a period of two to five years, with
vesting criteria that includes continuous employment until applicable
vesting dates have expired. As of January 28, 2006, a total of
330,000 shares have been granted, of which 262,000 shares had
vested and 85,000 shares had been forfeited. Unearned compensation
is recorded at the date of award, based on the market value of the
shares, and is included as a separate component of shareholders’
equity and is amortized over the applicable vesting period. The
amount amortized to expense in 2005, 2004 and 2003, net of the
impact of forfeitures, was approximately $16,000, $28,000 and
$93,000, respectively. As of January 28, 2006, outstanding awards
and shares available for grant totaled 5,000 and 633,000 respectively.

Defined Benefit Plans
The Company maintains a non-qualified Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan (“SERP”) for certain executive officers of the
Company. The SERP, which is unfunded, provides eligible 
executives defined pension benefits that supplement benefits 
under other retirement arrangements. The annual benefit amount 
is based on salary and bonus at the time of retirement and number
of years of service.

The Company provides the Board of Directors with a noncontributory,
unfunded retirement plan (“Director Retirement Plan”) that pays a
retired Director an annual retirement benefit equal to 60% of the
annual retainer at the time of retirement plus a 3% annual increase
through the final payment. Payments begin at age 62 or retirement,
whichever is later, and continue for 10 years or the life of the Director
and his or her spouse, whichever period is shorter. Partial vesting in
the retirement plan begins after six years of continuous service.
Participants become fully vested after 12 years of continuous service
on the Board. The Company accounts for the SERP and the Director
Retirement Plan in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No.87,
Employers’ Accounting for Pensions.

For 2005, 2004 and 2003, net periodic pension costs recognized
under both plans totaled approximately $1.9 million, $1.4 million and
$1.2 million, respectively. The accrued pension liability for the plans,
which is included in accrued expenses and other in the Consolidated
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Balance Sheets, was approximately $15.2 million and $12.0 million 
at January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, respectively. In addition,
an intangible asset, which is included in other assets in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, to reflect the excess of the
accumulated benefit obligation over the fair value of plan assets, 
net of accrued pension costs, of approximately $3.7 million and 
$4.1 million was recorded at January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005.

The measurement date for the SERP and Director Retirement Plan 
is November 1 of each year, using actuarial techniques which reflect
estimates for mortality, turnover and expected retirement. In
addition, management makes assumptions concerning future 
salary increases. Generally, discount rates are established as of 
the measurement date using theoretical bond models that select
high-grade corporate bonds with maturities or coupons that 
correlate to the expected payouts of the applicable liabilities.

After June 1, 2003, new Directors were not covered by the
retirement plan. Directors who were not yet vested in their
retirement benefits as of June 1, 2003 had the present value of
benefits already accrued as of the effective date converted to
deferred shares under the Directors Plan. Directors that were fully 
or partially vested in their retirement benefits were given a one time
election to continue to participate in the current retirement program
or convert the present value of benefits already accrued to deferred
shares under the Directors Plan as of the effective date.

The following is a summary of the Company’s defined benefit
pension plans as of the most recent actuarial calculations:

Obligation and Funded Status:

January 28, January 29,
2006 2005

($ in thousands)

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 14,232 $10,476
Service cost 531 402
Interest cost 782 628
Actuarial loss 604 2,767
Benefits paid (41) (41)

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 16,108 $ 14,232

Fair value of plan assets at end of year — —

Reconciliation of funded status:
Funded status (16,108) (14,232)
Unrecognized prior service cost 3,742 4,084
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 4,451 4,090

Accrued pension cost (7,915) (6,058)
Additional minimum liability (“AML”) (7,279) (5,925)

Accrued pension liability including AML $(15,194) $(11,983)

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of:

January 28, January 29,
2006 2005

($ in thousands)

Accrued pension liability, including
additional minimum liability $(15,194) $(11,983)

Intangible assets 3,742 4,084
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 3,537 1,841

Net amount recognized $ (7,915) $ (6,058)

The accumulated benefit obligation for the plans was $15.2 million
and $12.0 million at January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005,
respectively, which exceeds plan assets ($0).

Information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation
in excess of plan assets:

January 28, January 29,
2006 2005

($ in thousands)

Projected benefit obligation $16,108 $14,232
Accumulated benefit obligation $15,194 $11,983
Fair value of plan assets — —

Components of Net Periodic Pension Cost:

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

Service cost $ 531 $ 402 $ 224 
Interest cost 782 628 629
Amortization of prior service cost 342 342 385
Amortization of net (gain)/loss 243 18 —

Net periodic pension cost $1,898 $1,390 $1,238 

Assumptions:

Fiscal Year 
2005 2004

Weighted-average assumptions 
used to determine benefit obligation:

Discount rate 5.50% 5.50%
Salary increase rate 4.00% 4.00%
Measurement date Nov. 1, 2005 Nov. 1, 2004

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

Weighted-average assumptions 
used to determine net periodic 
pension cost:

Discount rate 5.50% 6.00% 6.50%
Salary increase rate 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

The Company expects to make $50,000 in benefit payments 
during 2006. 



Additional Information:

January 28, January 29,
2006 2005

($ in thousands)

Increase in additional minimum 
liability included in other 
comprehensive loss, before 
income taxes $1,696 $ 1,841

Balance of additional minimum 
liability included in other 
comprehensive loss, before 
income taxes $ 3,537 $ 1,841

Income taxes related to additional 
minimum liability included in other 
comprehensive loss $ 1,489 $ 747

Balance, net of income taxes, of 
additional minimum liability included 
in other comprehensive loss $2,048 $1,094

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future
service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

Year Pension Benefits

($ in thousands)

2006 $ 50
2007 1,181
2008 1,181
2009 1,194
2010 1,232
2011 and thereafter $7,101

Note 10. Shareholders’ Equity

On May 28, 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the
repurchase of 10 million outstanding shares of the Company’s
Common Stock from time to time on the open market. The Company
had repurchased 15 million shares of common stock under previously
announced programs. As of January 28, 2006, the Company had
purchased the 10 million shares outstanding under the stock
repurchase program, at a total cost of $88.5 million and there were
no shares remaining to be purchased under the current program.
During 2005 the Company purchased 3.1 million shares at a total
cost of $31.3 million. The Company had completed the purchase of
15 million shares at a total cost of $128.7 million under earlier
authorized programs. As of January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005,
the Company held 25,104,990 and 21,988,949 shares, respectively,
in treasury stock.

The Company has never declared dividends on its Common Stock
and does not plan to pay cash dividends on its Common Stock 
in the foreseeable future. The Company’s credit agreement does 
not restrict the payment of cash dividends so long as payment
conditions per the agreement are met. Any future determination as
to the payment of dividends will depend upon capital requirements,

limitations imposed by the Company’s credit agreement (see Note 5
to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and other factors the
Company’s Board of Directors may consider.

Note 11. Related Party Transactions

The Company leases its 168,400 square foot distribution
center/office facility in Albany, New York from Robert J. Higgins, 
its Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and largest shareholder, 
under three capital leases that expire in the year 2015. The original
distribution center/office facility was constructed in 1985.

Under the three capital leases, dated April 1, 1985; November 1, 1989;
and September 1, 1998 (the “Leases”), the Company paid Mr. Higgins
an annual rent of $1.9 million, $1.8 million and $1.8 million in 2005,
2004 and 2003 respectively. Pursuant to the terms of the lease
agreements, effective January 1, 2002 and every two years thereafter,
rental payments will increase in accordance with the biennial
increase in the Consumer Price Index. Under the terms of the 
lease agreements, the Company is responsible for property taxes,
insurance and other operating costs with respect to the premises.
Mr. Higgins’ obligation for principal and interest on his underlying
indebtedness relating to the real property is approximately 
$1.1 million per year. None of the leases contain any real 
property purchase options at the expiration of their terms.

The Company leases one of its retail stores from Mr. Higgins under 
an operating lease. Annual rental payments under this lease were
$40,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003. Under the terms of the lease, the
Company pays property taxes, maintenance and a contingent rental
if a specified sales level is achieved. Total additional charges for the
store, including contingent rent, were approximately $4,400, $14,500
and $4,600 in 2005, 2004 and 2003 respectively.

The Company regularly utilizes privately chartered aircraft owned 
or partially owned by Mr. Higgins. Under an unwritten agreement
with Quail Aero Services of Syracuse, Inc., a corporation in which 
Mr. Higgins holds a 47.5% share, the Company paid $0, $1,000 and
$60,000 for chartered aircraft services in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The Company also charters an aircraft from Crystal Jet,
a corporation wholly-owned by Mr. Higgins. Payments to Crystal Jet
aggregated $6,000, $10,000 and $13,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The Company also charters an aircraft from Richmor
Aviation, an unaffiliated corporation that leases an aircraft owned 
by Mr. Higgins. Payments to Richmor Aviation in 2005, 2004 and
2003 were $276,000, $314,000 and $235,000, respectively. The
Company believes that the charter rates and terms are as favorable
to the Company as those generally available to it from other
commercial charters.

Michael Solow, a member of the Company’s Board of Directors, 
is a partner of the law firm Kaye Scholer LLP, which rendered legal
services to the Company in 2004 and 2003 for which the Company
incurred fees of $115,000 and $202,000 respectively. Kaye Scholer
concluded its representation of the Company in 2004.
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Note 12. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
Fiscal 2005 Quarter Ended

2005 1/28/06 10/29/05 7/30/05 4/30/05

($ in thousands, except per share amounts)

Sales $1,238,486 $458,563 $241,395 $253,118 $285,410 
Gross profit 431,613 151,175 82,998 92,875 104,565
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of a change 

in accounting principle 2,886 22,255 (11,468) (6,947) (954)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, 

net of income taxes (2,277) (2,277) — — —

Net income (loss) $ 609 $ 19,976 $ (11,468) $(6,947) $ (954)

Basic earnings (loss) per share before cumulative effect 
of a change in accounting principle $ 0.09 $ 0.72 $ (0.36) $ (0.21) $ (0.03)

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, 
net of income taxes $ (0.07) $ (0.07) — — —

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.02 $ 0.65 $ (0.36) $ (0.21) $ (0.03) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share before cumulative effect 
of a change in accounting principle $ 0.09 $ 0.70 $ (0.36) $ (0.21) $ (0.03)

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, 
net of income taxes $ (0.07) $ (0.07) — — —

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.02 $ 0.63 $ (0.36) $ (0.21) $ (0.03) 

Fiscal 2004 Quarter Ended
2004 1/29/05 10/30/04 7/31/04 5/1/04

($ in thousands, except per share amounts)

Sales $1,365,133 $513,455 $270,013 $277,182 $304,483 
Gross profit 495,134 178,823 99,968 103,038 113,305
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain 38,675 34,679 (5,174) 7,129 2,041
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, 

net of income taxes 3,166 — 570 2,178 418

Net income (loss) $ 41,841 $34,679 $ (4,604) $ 9,307 $ 2,459

Basic earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain $ 1.12 $ 1.04 $ (0.15) $ 0.20 $ 0.06
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, 

net of income taxes $ 0.09 — $ 0.01 0.06 0.01

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 1.21 $ 1.04 $ (0.14) $ 0.26 $ 0.07 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain $ 1.06 $ 0.98 $ (0.15) $ 0.19 $ 0.06
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, 

net of income taxes $ 0.09 — $ 0.01 0.06 0.01

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 1.15 $ 0.98 $ (0.14) $ 0.25 $ 0.07 
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Note 13. Subsequent Event

Effective March 27, 2006, the Company executed a definitive
agreement to acquire the net assets of Musicland Holding Corp.
(“Musicland”). Musicland, an entertainment specialty retailer which
operates retail stores and Web sites under the names Sam Goody
(www.samgoody.com), Suncoast Motion Picture Company
(www.suncoast.com), On Cue and www.mediaplay.com, filed a
voluntary petition to restructure under Chapter 11 of the United
States Bankruptcy Code in January 2006. The acquisition of
Musicland’s assets provides the Company with the ability to leverage
their store locations, and strategically increase the Company’s 
national presence and provide further growth opportunities. The
transaction represents total consideration of $104.2 million in cash
and $18.1 million in assumed liabilities subject to certain post closing
adjustments, including adjustments relating to the final determination
of the value of the inventory. Under the terms of the Asset Purchase
Agreement, the Company agreed to acquire 335 of Musicland’s
remaining 400 stores, with the remainder of the stores being
liquidated under an Agency Agreement with Hilco Merchant
Resources, LLC. As of the date of filing this Report, the Company 
had not finalized the allocation of the purchase price.

On March 16, 2006, the Company acquired an 80% interest in 
a company that will be fully consolidated for financial reporting
purposes in 2006. The Company has committed a total funding 
of $5.2 million over two years, of which $1.2 million was funded 
as of March 25, 2006.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended). Under the supervision and with the
participation of the Company’s management, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) 
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on our evaluation
under the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework,
our management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of January 28, 2006. 

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm,
KPMG LLP, have issued an audit report on the Company’s
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting as of January 28, 2006, which is included on page 44.

Robert J. Higgins
Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer

April 13, 2006

John J. Sullivan
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Trans World Entertainment Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Trans World Entertainment Corporation and
subsidiaries as of January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period
ended January 28, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries as of January 28, 2006 and 
January 29, 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the 
three-year period ended January 28, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting 
for conditional asset retirement obligations associated with operating leases, effective January 28, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the effectiveness of Trans World Entertainment Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting 
as of January 28, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated April 13, 2006
expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal 
control over financial reporting.

Albany, New York
April 13, 2006
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Trans World Entertainment Corporation:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting, that Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of January 28, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for 
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as 
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 28, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by COSO. Also, in our opinion, 
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of January 28, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries as 
of January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ 
equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended 
January 28, 2006, and our report dated April 13, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated 
financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Albany, New York
April 13, 2006

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
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